

Murray State's Digital Commons

Murray State Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2020

THE EFFECTS OF PARENT TEACHER INTERACTIONS AND THE INFLUENCES THAT THESE INTERACTIONS HAVE ON FAMILY ENGAGEMENT AND HOME LEARNING ACTIVITIES

Kammie King

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.murraystate.edu/etd

Part of the Early Childhood Education Commons

Recommended Citation

King, Kammie, "THE EFFECTS OF PARENT TEACHER INTERACTIONS AND THE INFLUENCES THAT THESE INTERACTIONS HAVE ON FAMILY ENGAGEMENT AND HOME LEARNING ACTIVITIES" (2020). *Murray State Theses and Dissertations*. 186. https://digitalcommons.murraystate.edu/etd/186

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Murray State's Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Murray State Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Murray State's Digital Commons. For more information, please contact msu.digitalcommons@murraystate.edu.

THE EFFECTS OF PARENT TEACHER INTERACTIONS AND THE INFLUENCES THAT THESE INTERACTIONS HAVE ON FAMILY ENGAGEMENT AND HOME LEARNING ACTIVITIES

by

Kammie L. King

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of

The College of Education and Human Services

Department of Educational Studies, Leadership, and Counseling

at Murray State University

In Partial Fulfillment of Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Education

P-20 & Community Leadership

Specialization: pK-12 Leadership

Under the supervision of Associate Professor Samir Patel

Murray, KY December 2020

Abstract

As component of the P-20 initiative, education at all levels is critical when moving forward with innovative ideas to increase the lifelong learning of an individual. The foundation for one's entire educational career begins during a child's earliest years of life. This time period, prior to kindergarten can have lasting impacts on educational achievement, by influencing the ways that families interact with their child's school, as well as carries out home learning activities. The purpose of this research study was to investigate the role of family engagement in home learning activities and the role in which parent teacher involvement and interactions influences the home learning and family engagement. In order to answer the research questions as outlined in this study, parents and families of kindergarten students in five school districts located within rural western Kentucky, were targeted in order to gain information regarding the child's prior setting before entering kindergarten, and if the prior setting has an effect on family engagement and teacher interactions

Keywords: At home learning activities; Family Engagement; Kindergarten readiness; Parental involvement; Rural Communities; State funded preschool

Acknowledgments

I would like to give thanks to my committee chair, Dr. Samir Patel, for not losing faith in my ability to complete my study, even though there were days that I had decided I was not able to move forward. Dr. Patel has spent the last several years encouraging me to keep pushing forward when life threw many obstacles across my path, making this process take much longer than anticipated. In all honesty, there was often days that the finish line felt unattainable. Dr. Patel was always encouraging and this encouragement would help to erase my self-doubt, in turn mustering whatever bit of grit I could find and push forward toward the finish line.

I would like to acknowledge and thank the other members of my doctoral committee for their contributions to my study, and helping me to see that the end was in sight. Dr. Kala Chakradhar, for encouraging me to look within my heart to see why this study was significant not only to myself, but also to my peers. I would like to thank Dr. Jamie Mahoney, for helping to make me feel at ease, when my nerves had taken control, and her encouragement of my own abilities when I felt self-doubt during committee meetings.

I would also like to give special thanks to my family for their love and support. My husband David entered my life about midway through this program and has encouraged me daily. David and our children Andrew, Jackson, Izabella, and Jillian have spent countless hours watching me type at a computer, sort through documents, and calculate data. They have had to sacrifice their time with me, so that I could attain this dream. For their love and support I will be forever grateful, and without it, I would not have been able to finish.

Dedication

I dedicate this work, to my late parents John and Brenda Jackson. When I enrolled in the Ed.D. in P-20 and Community Leadership program at Murray State University, I was a single mother of two young children under the age of 4. My mother and father would happily keep my young children, so that I could attend weekend long classes, summer residencies, and complete homework without interruption. Mom would often sit and talk with me about how nice it would be to call me Dr. Jackson (my maiden name), and how many opportunities I would be able to offer to my children, with the professional doors this degree would open. Their loss in 2016 was a very difficult and dark time in my life. However, even in that darkness, I could still feel their love for, and pride in me. It was a dream of my parents, that I attain this degree and I know that with all my heart they are smiling down upon this this work. I am shouting "2" as loud as I can, hoping that you can hear me in the heavens.

Love you both.

Kam

Title Page	i
Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Dedications	iv
Table of Content	v
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	
What is Kindergarten Readiness?	
Statement of the Problem	
Kindergarten Readiness in the Commonwealth	
Rationale	
Definitions	
Research Questions and Hypothesis	9
Assumptions	
Scope	
Significance	
Summary	
CHAPTER II. LITERATURE REVIEW	
The History of Preschool	
Nursery Schools	
The Development of the Modern Preschool	
Effectiveness of Publicly Funded Preschool	
Parent Involvement and the Preschool	

Table of Contents

Importance of Family Engagement	22
Theoretical Framework	
Components of Family Engagement	
Epstein's Framework of Six Types of Involvement for Comprehensive	
Programs of Partnership	25
Which of Epstein's Categories has the Most Profound Impact on Early Learning.	
Family Engagement and the State Funded Preschool	
Family Engagement and Kindergarten Readiness	35
Family Engagement, Kindergarten Readiness and Socioeconomic Status	40
Parenting Styles	43
Parenting Styles and Family Engagement	45
Family Engagement and Parent Involvement in the Rural School	45
Summary	46
CHAPTER III. METHODOLOGY	48
Research Design	48
Research Question1	48
Research Question 2	49
Research Question 3	49
Approach	50
Setting and Sample	50
Procedures Followed	51
Data Collection	52
Data Analysis	53

Ethical Considerations	
Summary	54
CHAPTER IV. ANALYSIS OF THE DATA	55
Data Analysis Procedures	56
Response Rate to the Survey Research	
Analysis of Descriptive Data	
Prior Settings	
Demographics	57
Age of Participants	
Education and Income Level	59
Data Analysis of Research Questions	61
Research Question 1	61
Research Question 2	
Research Question 3	
Summary	66
CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION	68
Purpose of the Study	68
Discussion of Findings	69
Research Question 1	69
Research Question 2	
Research Question 3	71
Implications	
Accurate Data Collection	

Increase the Amount of Parent Teacher Interactions	75
Provide Home Learning Activities for Families	75
P-20 Implications	75
Limitations	76
Access to Prior Settings	77
Lack of Participation	77
Size of School Districts	77
Research Design	78
Recommendations for Future Research	78
Summary and Conclusion	80
erences	81
pendices	105
Appendix A: Letter of Approval From IRB	105
Appendix B: Family Engagement Survey	107
Appendix C: Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire	110

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1.	Frequency Distribution by Prior Setting
2.	Frequency Distribution by Nationality, Gender, and Marital Status
3.	Frequency Distribution by Age of Participants 59
4.	Frequency Distribution by Educational Level and Income Level 60
5.	Pearson Correlations of Influence of family engagement (FES) on Involvement based on
the (P	TIQ)

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

During the past few decades, early education in the United States has garnered increased interest and attention from politicians, education researchers, administrators, educators, and even parents. In the Commonwealth of Kentucky, with specific emphasis on rural areas, there is little to no research available on community differences (i.e., urban versus rural) and the role in which community setting plays with family engagement and school readiness (Keys, 2013). In the most rural areas, investments in education and family services during the early childhood years have been directly linked to improving graduation rates, lower rates of dependence on welfare, as well as lower crime rates. The ability to educate our youngest learners with 21st century skills is also crucial to the success of the Commonwealth's economic development (Knudsen, Heckman, Cameron, & Schonkoff, 2006).

After decades of research, findings illustrate the importance of a child's early experiences. In fact, Ravitch (2010) stated, "As every educator knows, families are children's first teachers" (p. 239). These early learning experiences occur within the child's natural environment as well as within the preschool setting. Literacy and language skills, specifically oral language, print knowledge, and phonological awareness in the early years of a child's life are strong indicators for academic achievement in one's educational career (Lonigan, Schatschneider, & Westberg, 2008). Writings by Sheldon and Epstein (2005) pointed to the role in which a parent plays in a child's life can affect a child's academic performance.

Bronfenbrenner's stance on family engagement and the critical role that it plays in child's academic success dates to the late 1960's when in his writings he declared that the "most important element in determining how well the child did in school is the child's home background" (Bronfenbrenner, 1967, p. 203). Bronfenbrenner's theory of development was

focused on the interactions between a child and his or her environment. Bronfenbrenner (1979) further defined "ecology of human development" as:

A microsystem is a pattern of activities, roles, and interpersonal relations experienced by the developing person in a given setting with particular physical and material characteristics. (p. 22)

According to Hayes, O'Toole, and Halpenny (2017), Bronfenbrenner's theory considered the relationship between the child and individuals in the child's environment as the main mode of development. Bronfenbrenner's theory of development was further supported by the findings of Carl Rogers, who also believed that child development is a product of the relationships that occur within their natural environment (Hayes et al., 2017).

A child's later academic achievement has been linked to the physical, emotional, and cognitive readiness at the entry of kindergarten (Reynolds, 1991; Schweinhart, Barnes, Weikart, Barnett, & Epstien, 1993). A child's emotional development is directly linked to the development of higher order cognitive skills and school readiness (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2001). Green, Malsch, Kothari, Busse, & Brennan (2012) found that development in social skills, self-regulation, emotional control, and attention is critical for school readiness. Lavigne et al. (1996) indicated that children with delays in social emotional development when entering school have problems later in their academic career. Writings in the literature report that children, from "at-risk" low-income backgrounds present with higher number of delays in social-emotional development to encourage the development of the child in the area of social-emotional competences is directly related to the amount of time that the family engages the child in activities that encourage development (Bryant & Zick, 1996; Sheridan et al., 2010).

A child's readiness is also linked to health and motor development. Children who live in rural areas and whose families live at or below the poverty line are at a greater risk for health issues and as a result may experience a delay in motor development due to lack of exposure of fundamental motor skill development activities (Winter & Sass, 2011). Over the past decade, the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) have presented data that directly links health and motor development as a component of school readiness. According to the NICHD (2009) the major goal is to identify effective school readiness and health promotion strategies to improve the outcomes for children at high risk of school failure. Research has indicated that the link between poverty stricken rural areas and school failure is linked to parent's lack of understanding of school importance and the parents or families own limited abilities to help children be successful (Neuman & Gallagher, 1994).

This profound knowledge of the importance of the earliest years of one's life lead to the enactment of *Goals 2000: Educate America* act, which was signed into law in 1994 by President Clinton, and which stated eight specific goals that would guide the future of education in the United States. This act is critical to early childhood education, as evidenced by Goal One, which states that "By the year 2000, all children in America will start school ready to learn" (P.L. 1003-227, p. 6) The goal also included three objectives. These objectives stated that (a) all children will have access to high-quality and developmentally appropriate preschools; (b) every parent in the United States will be the child's first teacher; and (c) children will receive nutrition, physical activity experiences, and the health care needed to arrive at school healthy (Espinosa, Thornburg, & Mathews, 1997).

It is the second objective outlined by this goal that is most intriguing, as it deals directly with family engagement during the formative years, including the preschool year. Specifically, the objective reads that "Every parent in the United States will be a child's first teacher and devote time each day to helping such parent's preschool child learn, and parents will have access to the training and support parents need" (Espinosa et al., 1997, p. 119).

This importance of family engagement and involvement is once again illustrated as a critical component in Goal Eight, which states, "By the year 2000, every school will promote partnerships that will increase parental involvement and participation in promoting the social, emotional, and academic growth of children" (P.L. 1003-227, p. 8). Additionally, Myers and Myers (2013) pointed out that schools, along with students, have positive outcomes when families are engaged (p. 95). Thus, positive student educational outcomes are based on strong relationships between parents and teachers (Montgomery, 2005).

The objectives outlined by goals one and eight, as outlined in P.L. 1003-227 places added weight on the shoulders of the families making them accountable for assisting with the growth and development of their child. This objective also places accountability on the early child classrooms across the nation for providing resources and training to help families work with their child outside of the preschool classroom, so that a child can enter kindergarten ready to learn. In addition to accountability on the preschool classroom, this partnership between the school and the family is an essential component of P-20 education, where community members, politicians, educators, and academic researchers must work together in order to create a seamless pipeline throughout one's educational career.

What is Kindergarten Readiness?

The term kindergarten readiness is currently a sensitive and highly debated topic among educators, policy makers, and families especially within the rural areas of the Kentucky. Kindergarten readiness is not a new term; however, it is a term that is highly debated during the previous two decades. Shonkoff and Phillips (2001) defined being kindergarten ready, when a child is able to demonstrate the foundational knowledge, skills and behaviors that enable one to participate and succeed in school. Kagan (1990) was a strong critic of the term readiness and feels as though the current understanding is a "narrow and artificial construct of questionable merit" (p. 272). The definition of kindergarten readiness varies by state, with each state's Department of Education providing specific definitions.

According to the Governor's office on Early Childhood, within Kentucky, school readiness is defined by saying that in Kentucky, each child enters school ready to engage in and benefit from early learning experiences that best promote the child's success and ability to be ready to grow, ready to learn, and ready to succeed (retrieved from KDE.org on July 26, 2017).

Statement of the Problem

When attempting to complete empirical research of data regarding school readiness of students in rural areas, there is little research available (Espinosa et al., 1997). Machida, Taylor, and Kim (2002) indicated that while there is a broad amount of data available regarding sociodemographics (income, education level, minority status) there is little to no research that indicates what factors contribute to a family's implementation of at home learning activities. The lack of data regarding school readiness and at home learning activities is further supported by Garbacz, Herman, Thompson, & Reinke (2017) who found that there is a limited amount of research, there was an extremely small amount of meaningful results regarding parent involvement. There is even less data regarding the amounts of family engagement during the early childhood years, specifically state funded preschool. As such, a study that specifically analyzes family engagement and at home learning in rural Western Kentucky would enable educators, families, and law makers to design and implement early childhood education mandates to early childhood education programs that are effective at fostering at home learning activities, increased parent teacher involvement, while improving kindergarten readiness skills.

Kindergarten Readiness in the Commonwealth

"Ready to grow...Ready to Learn...Ready to Succeed" is the motto taken from the Governor's Task Force on Early Childhood Development and Education (education.ky.gov, n.d.). What does this mean for our most impoverished learners of the rural areas of Kentucky who on a daily basis live below the poverty line and struggle to make ends meet? More specifically what is a rural area? There are a variety of ways to describe rural communities. By definition rural communities are geographically small in size; limited in economic stability with few opportunities to have income and revenue; the citizen populations being small in number and stagnant growth; and normally a sizeable distance from urban areas (Monk, 2007).

In the year 2009, Governor Steven L. Beshear saw the need for more research to be completed in order to deepen the understanding of the importance of the earliest years of one's life in relation to the academic achievements and outcomes not only during one's educational career, but also in life. It was the thought process of the governor that led to an executive order in February of 2009 that created the Task Force on Early Childhood Development and Education. This task force consisted of 28 members from various areas of commerce, education, and policy makers within the Commonwealth. The task force was charged with finding ways to increase the opportunity of every child in the Kentucky to become kindergarten ready, from the most rural areas to the urban areas and inner cities. One goal of the taskforce was to determine a common definition of "school readiness" (Governor's Task Force on Early Childhood Development and Education, 2010). The Task Force defined school readiness in the Commonwealth as a child being "*ready to engage in and benefit from early learning experiences that best promote the child's success*" (Governor's Task Force on Early Childhood Development and Education, 2010).

When determining kindergarten readiness, the task force chose to adopt a common screening tool in order to gage a child's readiness for kindergarten. The use of a screener was deemed more desirable by the task force, as it was determined that more formal assessments that were currently being used, took up too much time, and prevented learning activities from occurring (Governor's Task Force on Early Childhood Development and Education, 2010 p. 16). According to the Task Force (2010) a quality-screening tool is able to determine how a child is developing and identify areas in which a child needs further assessment. The Task Force (2010) went on to state that the screening tool will also enable classroom teachers to guide instruction.

In order to meet the recommendations of the Task Force of Kentucky implement the use of a screening tool, the *Brigance Kindergarten Screener* (Glascoe, 1999) was adopted in the fall of 2011. This screener was adopted by the state of Kentucky as a tool to assess children in the fall of their kindergarten year. According to Kentucky State regulation 704 KAR 5:070, the assessment is to be administered within the first 30 days of the child's kindergarten year, and no earlier than 15 days prior to the start of the kindergarten year. This assessment helps to determine if the child is ready for kindergarten (Curriculum Associates, 2018 p.1). The screening tool is aligned not only with the state of Kentucky's definition of being school ready; it also directly

aligns with Kentucky Early Childhood Standards. The term kindergarten ready is also important when considering family engagement and parental involvement in the years prior to a child entering kindergarten. As a parent is a child's teacher it is critical to P-20 research that educators at all levels understand the need for and importance of parental involvement and the engagement activities that come from increased levels of parental involvement.

Rationale

Historical data has shown time and time again, that there is a direct link to formal early childhood education and kindergarten readiness, with the data being collected in urban settings (Temple, 2009). When completing historical research regarding long-term outcomes for children who reside in rural areas, as well as family engagement, the data is limited. In rural areas many children enter school without any type of early education due to limited access to early childhood programs (Bainbridge, Meyers, Tanko, & Waldfogel, 2005). While there is some research showing that rural children have limited access to early childhood programs, there is even less data regarding the amounts of family engagement during the early childhood years in rural areas with specific emphasis on state funded preschools. As such, a study that specifically analyzes family engagement and at home learning in rural Western Kentucky would enable educators, families, and law makers to design and implement early childhood education mandates to early childhood education programs that are effective at fostering at home learning activities and increasing kindergarten readiness.

Definitions

At home learning activities: The Effective Provision of Pre-School Education (Sylva, et al., 2004) gave a working definition of at-home learning activities as things such as reading to

your child, playing with letters and numbers, drawing and painting, teaching the alphabet to one's child, and arranging for opportunities to interact with peers (Sylva et al., 2004).

Family engagement: The National Family, School and Community Engagement Policy Council (2010) defined that family engagement is a shared responsibility in which schools and other community agencies and organizations are committed to reaching out to engage families in meaningful ways in which families are committed to actively supporting their children's learning and development at home, in school and across the life span of the child.

Kindergarten readiness: within Kentucky, school readiness is defined as each child entering school ready to engage in and benefit from early learning experiences that best promote the child's success and ability to be ready to grow, ready to learn, and ready to succeed (retrieved July 26, 2017).

Parental involvement: Parental involvement is defined as the interaction and engagement of the parent within the educational process and experiences of their child (Epstein, 2001; Henderson & Mapp, 2002).

Rural communities: According the U.S. Census Bureau (2010) rural communities are the areas that are left after defining an individual urban area.

State funded preschool: An initiative that is funded, controlled, and directed by the state, serving children preschool age, and early childhood education is the primary focus of the initiative (Barnett et al., 2017).

Research Questions and Hypothesis

The purpose of this research study was to investigate the role of family engagement in home learning activities and the role in which parent-teacher involvement and interactions influences the home learning and family engagement. When completing research of historical data and writings in literature consistent gaps were found in the literature involving family engagement and parental involvement in rural areas. It was this gap within the literature that served as a driving force when designing the research questions and hypothesis of the study. In order to answer the research questions as outlined in this study, parents and families in five school districts located within rural Western Kentucky, were targeted in order to gain information regarding family engagement and what role if any, this has in impacting the kindergarten readiness of their child when entering school. This study was completed over a twoweek window, utilizing quantitative methods. Two survey instruments, *Family Engagement Survey* (FES; Hagedorn, Roth, Carver, Van de Kerckhove, & Smith, 2009) and the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* (PTIQ, Conduct Problems Prevention Research Group, 1991) were utilized to collect information regarding the level of family engagement and engagement between the parent and the teacher, respectively.

Research question 1: Do parents reported levels of involvement, as reported on the PTIQ, vary based on the type of preschool that their child attended prior to entering kindergarten?

Null Hypothesis 1a: No statistically significant differences will be found in the level of parent involvement, as measured by the PTIQ, between kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools.

Null Hypothesis 1b: No statistically significant differences will be found in the level of parent involvement, as measured by the PTIQ, between kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who did not attended preschool.

Null Hypothesis 1c: No Statistically significant difference will be found in the level of parent involvement, as measured by the PTIQ, between kindergarten students who attended state private, family paid preschools and those who did not attend preschool.

Research Question 2: Does family engagement, as reported on the FES, differ by exposure to schooling prior to kindergarten?

Null hypothesis 2a. No statistically significant differences in the reported levels of family engagement will exist, as measured by the FES, between students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools.

Null Hypothesis 2b. No statistically significant differences in the reported levels of family engagement will exist, as measured by the FES, between kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who did not attended preschool

Null Hypothesis 2c. No statistically significant differences in the reported levels of family engagement will exist, as measured by the FES, between kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools and kindergarten students who did not attend preschool.

Research Question 3: Do parents reported levels of involvement, as measured by the PTIQ, influence family engagement, as measured by the FES?

Null Hypothesis 3a: No statistically significant correlation will exist between parents reported levels of involvement on the PTIQ and family engagement as reported on the FES.

Assumptions

Several assumptions drive this study. It is assumed that all school districts who agreed to participate in the study will disseminate the surveys created by the researcher to every family who has a child enrolled in the districts Kindergarten program. It is assumed that parents and

families will correctly identify their child's prior background setting when enrolling their child into kindergarten in the fall of the year when completing the surveys. An additional assumption is that all parents who complete the surveys will be honest with their responses regarding the amount of time that they engaged in at-home learning experiences.

Scope

The scope of this study is dictated by the data derived from the Kentucky Department of Education in which school systems are classified as rural or non-rural, in the western region of the Kentucky for school year 2017 through 2018. The families of the students who attended the rural schools will be surveyed regarding family engagement and the use of at-home learning activities. The results of the families will be analyzed to determine the amount of family engagement, with specific emphasis on the amount of time spent per week engaged in at-home learning activities.

Significance

By completing this study, research was garnered in an area where little to no research exists. Upon review of the literature, the need for further study of family engagement in the rural setting is commonly noted. There is even less data to be found regarding family engagement within the rural regions of Western Kentucky. The findings of this study will be useful to educators, as they will have better insight on the views and ideas of the family regarding the importance of family engagement and at home learning during the early childhood years. This information will also be useful to district staff as they can use the results to help target specific areas of need for family education that will help increase the families understanding of the need for at-home learning activities through finely tailored programs and activities. Finally, this information will be useful to policymakers as they will be able to see how current policy is affecting early childhood education in the Kentucky, as well as provide useful data to drive innovation and change.

Summary

The purpose of this research study was to investigate the role of family engagement in home learning activities and the role in which parent teacher involvement and interactions influences the home learning and family engagement, while looking at prior learning settings for children during the kindergarten year. These settings included state funded preschool, federally funded Head Start classrooms, private paid preschools, and those students who did not attend a preschool/day care program.

In order to answer the research questions as outlined in this study, parents and families in five school districts located within rural Western Kentucky, were targeted in order to gain information regarding family engagement and what role if any, the type of preschool that the child attended had parent teacher involvement and family engagement as reported on the PTIQ and the FES.

CHAPTER II. LITERATURE REVIEW

The History of Preschool

The history of preschool dates back three and a half centuries, to England and the formation of the charity school movement, which was designed to help educate the poor children of the nation (Cahan,1989). These charity schools were grounded in the religious teachings and by the mid-17th century there more than 30,000 children who attended classes through the Society for the Promotion of Christian Knowledge (Cahan, 1989). By the 1800's, the onset of the Industrial Revolution lead to women leaving the home to work in the factories. This trend from mothers leaving the home led to the development of programs that focused on early education (White & Buka, 1987). In 1828, Lord Brougham of Great Britain was a champion for infant schools and early learning, when he wrote:

The truth is that he (being the child) can and does learn a great deal more before that age [six years] than all he ever learns or can learn in all his afterlife. His attention is more easily aroused, his memory is more retentive, bad habits are not yet formed, nor is his judgement warped by unfair bias. (Forest, 1927, p. 49)

The history of the infant schools laid the foundations of the current preschools and early childhood learning that currently exist around the globe. It was during the Industrial Revolution that early childhood education was established in the U.S. In the 19th century, the U.S. viewed poverty not as an economic problem, but one of spirit (Beatty, 1981). It was this thinking that lead to the formation of the Boston Infant Schools, whose goal was to eliminate poverty in three generations (Cahan, 1989). During this period, early education was not just for the poor, as parents who lived a comfortable life in urban areas also sent their children to infant schools, so that the child would have an advantage when starting school. However, by the late 1820's the

infant school movement started to dissipate, when cities such as New York established primary schools as part of the public-school system, and the Boston Primary School Board rejected the concept of incorporating infant schools into their program (Beatty, 1981).

Nursery Schools

With infant schools fading into the pages of history, as the 19th century came to an end, there was still a need for early childcare, which gave rise to the "nursery schools" (Cahan, 1989). The need for these schools was driven by the need of families who had both parents working outside of the home. In the initial years of the nursery schools, they were used as a daycare and not as a method for education (Cahan, 1989). However, as the U.S. entered the 20th century, and fought World War I, there was deemed to be a decline in family life. This decline was the driving force behind the use of supplementing home education by educational experts who worked in the nursey schools (Merrill Public School, 1921). One strong proponent of using nursery schools to provide education was William Russell, who was the dean of the Teachers College at Columbia University. In his writings, Russell (1931) urged that nursery schools be used for education, because of changes in the home, neighborhoods, and churches; therefore, schools must assist in the socialization of young children. Russel (1931) went on to state that the nursery school, "is one of the efforts made by society to compensate for this defect; and parental education is one way of trying to rehabilitate the institution [of the family] which cannot do its share" (p. 9).

With the support of proponents such as Russel and other scholars, as well as a new-found group of college educated women, the child development movement grew, and a great deal of study was being completed in the realm of child development. By the end of the 1930's, 74 colleges and universities had nursery schools, and over 60 of them reported that the main role of the nursery school was to aid in research regarding child development, and over 40 universities

reported using the nursery schools as part of teacher preparation (Davis & Hansen,

1933). Following the post war era, the 1950's and 1960's would usher in monumental changes that would change the face of American education and the role that early childhood education played within the larger the picture.

The Development of the Modern Preschool

Research of the social science, specifically human development and learning was monumental in the 1950's and 1960's. Writings by Hunt (1961) alluded that beginning years of one's life are significant in developing a foundation of skills that one would use later in their educational career. Bloom (1964), who studied longitudinal data, determined that children learn rapidly in the early years of one's life, and then learn at a lower rate as they get older. Based on the data collected, Bloom (1964) stated "that early childhood education profoundly affects the child's general learning pattern" (p.110). The profound importance of early childhood education is further documented in the literature through discussions of nursery schools in Wisconsin. Tank (1980), indicated that development of nursery schools in Wisconsin, with specific emphasis on the Day Nursery association of Milwaukee, organized a pedagogical program that focused on the development of the whole child. The development of these programs served as further support for the role of early childhood education.

It was also at this time that Presidents Kennedy and Johnson, were seeking ways to improve the social outcomes for Americas most poor, and they initiated a war on poverty (Ziegler & Valentine, 1979). It was part of this "war" that lead to a recommendation to the Office of Economic Opportunity that preschool programs be implemented nationwide to help children who lived in poverty (Ziegler & Valentine, 1979). It was this recommendation, which lead to the founding of the federally funded Head Start Program in 1965. Initially termed Project Head Start, the goal of the program was to develop the child, family, and community in which the families reside (Ziegler & Valentine, 1979).

The Head Start program is still in place and used today. However, in 1971 there was a shift from federally funded preschool programs due to a presidential veto of the Comprehensive Child Development Act, which placed more responsibility on the states to provide early childhood education (Roth, 1976). In 1972, the Education Commissions of the States, launched its Early Childhood Project. The purpose of this project was to help expand and build their early childhood projects (Karch, 2010). It was this action that lead to the formation of what is currently known as state funded preschool, with the preschool programs varying from state to state.

According the National Institute for Early Education Research there are only seven states who do not currently offer preschool programs, compared to 2002, when 13 states offed no statefunded preschool programs. Since the implementation of public funding for preschool programs in the United States, the amount of dollars being spent on early childhood programs has significantly increased. Data reported by the states that offer preschool programs, indicated that states spend over seven billion dollars a year to educate one and a half million 3- and 4-year-old children (Barnett et al., 2017).

With the predominate focus of research being on the publicly funded school systems, there is also a large amount of data that studies the effectiveness of privately funded preschools. Privately funded preschools are often affiliated with a church or other religious belief and operate outside of the regulations that are the driving force behind policy and procedures that publicly funded schools are required to follow. There have been many studies over the years to determine if there is an advantage to private funded preschools versus publicly funded schools. Henry, Gordon, and Rickman (2006) found that when comparing private versus statefunded preschools in Georgia, the private preschools did outperform the public preschools. Specifically, private preschool students scored higher on language arts test scores in grade three and there was a decreased retention rate when looking at longitudinal data (Henry et al., 2006).

Effectiveness of Publicly Funded Preschool

The early years of one's life are known to be a period where rapid growth occurs in all areas of a child's development. This time period is a critical to encourage the development of skills that will increase a child's educational potential (Shonkoff & Phillps, 2000). When studying the literature on preschool programing, programs focus education on skill development such as cognitive skills, social emotional skills, self-help, language, and adaptive skills. The focus on these five areas of development is well known to be key factors in helping a child have a positive educational career (Heckman, Pinto, & Savelyev, 2013).

In the last decade enrollment rates in state funded preschools have more than doubled (Barnett et al., 2017; Barnett, Hustedt, Robin, & Schulman, 2003). With this increase of enrollment and understanding of the critical time period of the early years of one's life, there has been significant research that shows the effectiveness of preschool on the long-term trajectory of a child's educational career due to methodological and substantive reasons (McCoy et al., 2017). Bakken, Brown, and Downing (2017) wrote that participation in a preschool program decreases the likelihood that a child would be placed into special education. Also, participation in a preschool program decreases the likelihood of a child being retained in a grade. Finally, children who attended preschool were found more likely to complete high school compared to peers who did not attend preschool. Currently, in the U.S., 373,000 students per year leave high school without graduating (Chapman, Laird, Ifill, & Kewal-Ramani, 2011).

In rural areas children are less likely to attend an early childhood program (Barnett and Yaroz, 2004). Temple (2009) found that children who live in rural areas have a 12% lower probability of enrolling in a preschool program. While not true for all, some children who do not attend preschool may not be ready to enter school. Children who are not school ready struggle academically throughout their educational career (Temple, 2009). Temple and Reynolds (2007) found that children, who are not school ready, increase school expenses due to grade level retention and special education cost. By increasing access to early childhood education in rural areas, the long lasting impact for the rural areas include decreased crime, reduction of social cost, and higher income earnings once students enter the workforce (Temple and Reynolds, 2007). Therefore, it is essential that parents, educators, and legislators in rural areas understand the need for high quality early childhood education and information from this study can be utilized to help with program planning, community awareness, and family engagement activities.

Parent Involvement and the Preschool

Parent involvement is a critical component of a child's overall educational success (Epstein, 1996). Over the last three decades, research was completed studying the impacts of family and school separately in relation to the development of the child. During this time there has been a shift in research that is addressing the link between a child's family and the school to determine future outcomes for the child (Epstein, 1996). When discussing preschool and the field of early childhood education, the home-school connection, which encompasses the ways that the parents interact with school personnel and the child, is termed parent involvement (Waanders, Mendez, & Downer, 2007). This concept of parent involvement is most critical in the lives of children who live in poverty, as this connection between home and school may help to alleviate the stressors that often occur in poverty-stricken families (Garmezy, 1991). McLoyd (1998)

found that families, who live in higher income levels, have lower level of parental stress, thus have a positive effect on parenting. Furthermore, parents with higher income levels can allocate funds on childcare (Duncan, Morris, Rodrigues, 2011). Morris, Gennetian, and Ducnan (2005) indicated that when families spend for childcare centers, there is an increased amount of time that children spend in the center, which then leads to greater school achievement in the long run.

The federally funded program Head Start has long understood the importance of and the need for parent-school interactions in order for children to have success in school (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2000). Takanishi and DeLeon (1994) found that Head Start students enter kindergarten with increased cognitive skills and well-defined social skills. Studies have shown that when low socioeconomic families have parents who are involved in decision making and other components of their child's education, there is more of a connection between the home and school environment (Mendes & Fogle, 2002). The cohesion that develops when parents are involved in school, enables the classroom teacher to have a better understanding of the student. This deeper understanding enables the teacher to reach the student and family with greater understanding and clarity. In addition to the teacher having a better understanding, the parents are also able to learn from the teachers and have more appropriate interactions with their child (Haynes & Ben-Avie, 1996). Shumow et al. (1999) reported that parent involvement in the educational process of their child, by volunteering in the classroom and participating in other school lead programs, had children who were better able to overcome the obstacles that occur when one lives in low income, high crime areas.

When studying the literature, the term of parent involvement is often defined as the number of times that a parent visited to the school (Fantuzzo, Tighe, & Childs, 2000). Grolnick and Slowiaczek (1994) indicated that parent involvement can take place in a variety of forms not

only at school but also within the family's home. Policy makers who drafted No Child Left Behind (NCLB) called for "the participation of parents in regular, two-way, and meaningful communication involving student academic learning and other school activities" (No Child Left Behind Act 2002:9101).

Schools sometimes ask for parents to be involved in activities that require a great amount of time and resources in order for the family to successfully participate (Posey-Maddox, 2012). Often, families who struggle economically incur challenges that prevent the parents from interacting with the child at home (Marcon, 1999). Many parents work multiple jobs, or both parents work outside of the home. Family dynamics, such as family size, parent education, and socio-economic standing are a key component to gage the level of parent involvement. Single parents are less likely to be highly engaged in home learning activities (Zill, 1996). Eccles and Harold (1996) created a model regarding parental involvement and that this involvement can have long lasting positive effect on the student's educational success.

The classroom teacher as well as school staff's beliefs regarding parental involvement is determining factor of how much parental involvement will occur during one's educational career. Eccles and Harold (1996) reported that the characteristics of the school and the teacher can encourage or discourage a parent's involvement. Epstein and Dauber (1991) found that teachers who have a more positive attitude toward parents, especially parents who they deemed "hard to reach" have more success at increasing the level of parental involvement. Research has shown that parents who felt a connection with the classroom teacher were more responsive to home led learning activities and reported a higher level of parental involvement (Waanders, Mendes, & Downer, 2007).

Comer and Haynes (1991) and Epstein and Dauber (1991) indicated a strong argument for more research into the connection between not only home school connections, but also the quality of the connections fostered between the home and school. The main challenge for both early childhood programs as well as elementary schools is bringing parents together who come from varied social background in order to increase parental involvement (Hamilin & Flessa, 2016). While there is data available, the majority of the data is based on families who are served by the federally funded Head Start program, and who live in urban areas. This identified challenge drives the need for further research in the area of parental involvement and family engagement in preschool; as such, this author aims to address the relationship between these two concepts as part of this study.

Importance of Family Engagement

Each year, the educational standards and learning outcomes for the youngest of learners has added more rigidity with additional focus being placed on the educational needs of the child to increase kindergarten readiness (Hilado, Kallemeyn, Lundy, Israel, & Leow, 2011). This push towards a more school like approach in the early childhood setting puts a new emphasis on the importance of family involvement during the preschool years. Hair, Halle, Terry-Human, Lavelle, & Calkins (2006) indicated activities that occur within the child's home and preschool classroom as being directly related to the skills and competencies that are present at the beginning of the child's kindergarten year (Pentimonti, Justice, & Kaderavek, 2014) Findings in the literature indicated that the involvement of the family is a significant and critical component of a child's academic success (Durand 2011; Gonzalez, Borders, Hines, Villalba, & Henderson 2013; Jung, 2016). Writings by Pelletier and Brent (2002) indicated that a child's family is not only the child's first teacher, but also the most important teacher during the child's early life.

These findings presented by Pelletier and Brent (2002) are further supported by writings presented by Bronfenbrenner that date back to the early 1900's.

Bronfenbrenner (1974) found that for early childhood education to be successful, there must be a strong partnership in place between the families, the staff, and the community. This concept is also grounded in ideals found in Bronfenbrenner's social ecology theory (1974), which highlighted family involvement is essential in intervention; otherwise the growth will dissipate once the intervention ceases. Early childhood education programs located in the rural area of Kentucky not only educate children and families, but they also serve as intervention tools, as the state funded preschools are for families who live at or below the poverty line or have child with a disability. Therefore, the limited data regarding family engagement in the rural areas is a limiting factor for both teachers and policy makers when developing services that will be delivered in the state funded preschool classroom.

Historical data shows that parental involvement in the early years of child's life serves as predictors of later school-related outcomes (Hart & Risley, 1985). Schwab (1987) reported that a child's learning is dependent on one's family and community. Data collected over several decades, found that the parenting practices during the early years of a child' life serve as a tool to determine school-related outcomes later in one's educational career (Lally, 2010). Activities that occur in the child's natural environment, such as reading books together and playing games significantly impacted the later academic development of the child (Benson & Mokhtari, 2011; Lever & Se[´]ne[´]chal, 2011). Reading books with children and other shared family experiences that occur in the child's natural environment are essential, as research has consistently shown that skills developed in early childhood in the area of mathematics (Duncan et al., 2007) and a child's ability to read is a significant tool that educators can use to predict later academic success.

Parents have the greatest effect for cognitive skill development during the early years of one's life (Cunha, Heckman, Lochner, & Masterov, 2006). Mol and Bus (2011) found that children who come from homes where families spend time engaged in reading activities, have larger vocabularies and increased comprehension skills when entering kindergarten. The amount of family engagement activities that occur in the child's natural environment directly correlate with the parent's beliefs regarding learning in the home (Evans & Shaw, 2008; Geoffroy et al., 2010). By completing this study, educators in rural Western Kentucky will have better insight on the views and ideas held by the family regarding the importance of family engagement and at home learning during the early childhood years. Data gathered from the study will help practitioners target specific areas of need for family education, that schools can target to cultivate family engagement and parental involvement.

Theoretical Framework

Components of Family Engagement

When considering family engagement in the early childhood classroom, one must first ask the question, "What is family engagement?" and why is the term "engagement" often interchanged with "involvement"? When studying the literature, family engagement is typically presented as two-way communication between home and school; involving the families in program planning; sharing information; enabling families to find community resources; and working to resolve any conflicts that occur between the family and the school (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009, p. 23). A real-time example of family engagement within the context of early childhood education, would be a parent or family member sitting down with their child and

playing a game of alphabet bingo, making sure to ask the child to identify letters, and helping the child to name letters they did not know

When examining parental involvement, the term engagement is often used in place of involvement. Parental involvement usually included parents' behaviors at home as well as at school in order to increase and support the child's educational growth (El Nokali, Bachman, Votruba-Drzal, 2010). One type of involvement that is especially critical to the preschool aged child being kindergarten ready at the start of the kindergarten year, is the amount of learning that occurs at home. This involvement might look like a parent attending family nights that are hosted by the child's preschool, then engaging in two-way communication with the teacher to help encourage the child's development.

Epstein's Framework of Six Types of Involvement for Comprehensive Programs of Partnership

In 1995, Epstein defined parental involvement through six categories of how parents can be involved in their child's learning. Epstein (2011) further developed his theory into six key elements, that show how essential engagement is between the home, school, and community (p.415). Epstein's Framework allows educators and families to use research-based practices when selecting and implementing engagement strategies, thus encouraging the success of students throughout their educational career (Epstein, 2011, p.394). Epstein (2011) went on to write that any or all of the strategies can be utilized by schools in order to help meet the specific needs of their programs (p. 396). Epstein's six types of involvement are:

Type 1: Parenting - Help all families establish home environments to support children as students. Parents are responsible for making sure that their child's needs are met (Epstein, 2011, p.417). Schools can provide materials and information to families, so that they can increase their ability to help their child succeed (Epstein, 2011). Through trainings and learning opportunities parents are given the needed skills so that they can help their child meet their educational goals as the move throughout their educational career.

Type 2: Communicating - Design effective forms of school-to-home and home-to-school communications about school programs. Schools and parents can keep each other aware of critical information regarding child by using a varied means of communication (Epstein, 2011, pp. 424-425). Schools must communicate with families in their native language. Finally, educators must keep parents aware of their child's grades, events at school, and other issues through communication (Epstein, 2011).

Type 3: Volunteering - Recruit and organize parent help and support. By allowing parents to volunteer, this gives the family an important role in the education process and gain insight into their child's educational career. Epstein (2011) indicated that it may take effort on the school's part to arrange for volunteer opportunities, but the positive outcomes that are gained form the experience outweigh the work required from the school to make it happen.

Type 4: Learning at Home - Provide information and ideas to families about how to help students at home with homework and other curriculum-related activities, decisions, and planning. Young learners are given materials to work on at home so that the families can help the youngest of learners reinforce skills that are taught in the classroom (Epstein, 2011, p. 442). As the child ages, it is essential to effectively communicate with the families what the students are learning, and what the ever increasing expectations are, so that the child continues to have achievements at school (Epstein, 2011).
Type 5: Decision Making - Include parents in school decisions, developing parent leaders and representatives. When parents are included in making decisions, they are engaged and involved within the school. Parents are a critical component of acting within a consulting capacity, regarding information about their child (Epstein, 2011). Type 6: Collaborating with the Community - Identify and integrate resources and services from the community to strengthen school programs, family practices, and student learning and development. (Epstein, 2011, p. 141). Schools can provide families with information and assistance to "after-school care, health services, and other resources that coordinate these arrangements" so that children arrive at school ready to learn and ready to grow (Epstein, 2011, p. 132).

Which of Epstein's Categories has the Most Profound Impact on Early Learning?

While all six categories of Epstein are essential to a child's development, it is category Type 4 that is most essential to the development of our youngest learners. Epstein (2008) discussed learning at home, by saying that teachers play a significant role in increasing parental involvement in learning. Epstein (2002) defined learning at home as teachers providing information and ideas to families about how to help students learn within the home environment. Epstein (2008) goes on to state that the goal of home-based learning be meaningful and coordinate with what the student is learning in the classroom. This can become a gray area in the realm of early childhood education as each child is at a different point on the developmental spectrum, however through clear activities and information about student development, parents are able to play a vital role in helping their child transition from one level to the next. Copious amounts of data collected over the past two decades that focus on family engagement in urban areas, and with families who attended federally funded Head Start programs, however there is significant gaps in the literature regarding families who live in rural areas, and attend state funded preschool.

In 2003, the U.S. Department of Education released the results of a study regarding parent involvement in school related activities. The 2003 study indicated that only 38% of parents volunteered at their child's school. This 2003 report looked at activities involving what type of activities in relation to school that a parent was involved in, and it was reported that in Kindergarten through 12th grade, 95% of parents helped to do homework, however only 85% of families reported that there was an adult responsible for making sure that homework was complete (Wright, 2009). These finding indicate that there is a discrepancy between the percentage of parents who help with homework and the percentage of families that responded making sure that homework was completed. This discrepancy is vital to the research as it shows an area of opportunity to increase student schuss with at home learning activities, which was of interest to the researcher.

When discussing family engagement there are several terms that are used simultaneously throughout the literature, however the focus of the terms is centered on families and their participation in their child's education. Garbacz et al. (2017) identified the following key terms family involvement, family-centered services, family school partnerships, and family engagement (p. 2)

Writings by Arnold, Zeljo, Doctoroff, and Ortiz (2008) explained that family engagement and involvement can occur in variety of ways, and that educators need to develop a working knowledge of the critical components to be able to create an environment in which those occur. Teacher preparation programs provide students enrolled with an in-depth knowledge of pedagogy, new teachers are often not trained in ways to foster family partnerships. Not only are educators not trained in ways to engage families, they also are not adequately prepared to look for ways to foster partnerships within the community. Teacher preparation programs do not do enough to train new teachers how to create meaningful interactions with families (Epstein, 2001). This lack of awareness and knowledge of leadership skills to adequately foster family and community partnerships can have an adverse effect on student outcomes. This adverse effect on student outcomes not only occurs in the early childhood setting but continues to follow that child throughout their educational career and into adulthood (Epstein, 2011). Kroeger and Lash (2011) reported that teacher education programs at universities, who offer courses focusing on family engagements, yield educators who enter the filed more able to facilitate meaningful family engagements.

Weiss, Caspe, and Lopes (2006) identified that family engagement is a three-step process that includes parenting, home-school relationships, and a responsibility for learning. Under the first component, parenting consists of the parent's perceptions of raising children and their individual values. The home-school connection consists of the interactions that occur between the school and families. The final component, the responsibility for learning, studies the way that parents uses activities that occur in the home in order enable their child to acquire new skills and be kindergarten ready when entering kindergarten. It is this utilization of home learning activities that account for the level of family engagement.

Educators and policymakers alike must give adequate thought to the area of family engagement, while being respectful and mindful of the families' perception of parenting. In addition to a parent's education level, the number of children in the home, and the overall desire of the parent to participate in school activities, a family's socioeconomic level can affect the parenting style that is implemented within the home. Families who live in poverty have fewer opportunities to engage in social supports that focus on parenting (Marshall, Noonan, McCartney, Marx, & Keefe, 2001). Pentimonti et al. (2014) wrote that children who live in atrisk homes based on socioeconomic standards have children who often test not ready for kindergarten when compared to their same aged peers of higher socioeconomic backgrounds.

Studies by Hair et al. (2006) led one to determine that children from lower income families provide fewer opportunities to improve kindergarten readiness skills. Risley and Hart (1995) found that children from higher socioeconomic levels had expanded vocabulary growth, than did their peers who lived at or below the poverty line. When a child feels emotionally connected and safe, studies have shown that there is an increase of developed communication skills (Connell & Prinz, 2002). Research of historical data indicated students from families who are considered at-risk enter school one standard deviation below their same aged peers (Burkham, Ready, Lee, & Logerfo, 2004). Dahl and Lochner (2012), as cited in Reardon and Portilla (2016), found that children's cognitive abilities and social emotional development is affected by the family income.

Families who have more financial stability are able to provide more opportunities for educational development, and this increase of capital into the child's learning affects the child's developmental outcomes (Gershoff, Aber, Raver, & Lennon, 2007). Data derived from the Consumer Expenditure Surveys found that families who live above the poverty line report spending more money on child care and activities that will stimulate cognitive development (Readon & Portilla, 2016). Data collected during the American Time Use Surveys found that mothers, who had college degrees spent more time engaging their preschool aged children, thus increasing the overall development of the child (Kalil, Ryan, & Corey, 2012). Writings in the literature find direct associations between a child's residential area and kindergarten readiness skills. The neighborhood, or area in which a child resides, and the conditions of that particular area have been found to directly associate with the cognitive development of the child, and the later academic outcomes of the child (Brooks-Gunn, Duncan, & Aber, 1997; Duncan, Brooks-Gunn, & Klebanov, 1994; Klebanov, Brooks-Gunn, McCarton, & McCormick, 1998; Leventhal & Brooks-Gunn, 2000). Chetty, Hendren, and Katz (2016) reported that children, who live in high poverty areas, have long-term educational outcomes that are negatively affected by poverty rates of the area.

The socio-economic status of a family is important to this study, as the purpose of this study is to determine parental views on family engagement and at home learning activities, of families who attend state funded preschools located within rural areas. Rural areas have a higher poverty rate than other areas with fewer resources to help the families that reside there. State funded preschools were developed in order to serve children and families who live at or below poverty level in these areas.

Family Engagement and the State Funded Preschool

During the preschool year, prior to the transition to kindergarten, families are able to learn ways to engage with school personnel through positive partnerships, so that they can encourage and support children' s learning (Epstein, 1996). The Harvard Family Research Project indicates that for a child to be successful from birth through adulthood, there must be a variety of supports present at all stages of development (Weiss, Caspe, & Lopez, 2006). Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University (2017) indicated that the education of a child from, both the family and the community in which the child lives, starts at birth and continues for the lifespan of the child.

A child's later school success may be linked to a concrete connection that is formed regarding the importance of school, when young children see the family engage in school related activities and ongoing communication (Fantuzzo, McWayne, & Perry, 1999). Parent involvement in the early childhood classroom is essential to yielding positive student learning outcomes (White, Taylor, & Moss, 1992). Students who had higher levels of family participation during the preschool and kindergarten years were found to have higher retention rates and higher reading achievement scores at the end of the eighth school year (Miedel & Reynolds, 1999). Similar findings by Marcon (1999) found that children, who had more active family engagement during the preschool year, reached curriculum-based learning objects at a higher rate than peers with limited family engagement. In addition to academic success, family engagement during the preschool year has also been linked to social skill development and behavior regulation (Bronson, 2000). Wittings by Webster (2019) indicated that attention and attending to learning skills, is a behavior that is learned during the earliest years of one's life (Duncan et al., 2007). Additional research found that children with increased family engagement in the preschool classroom engaged in less disruptive peer play in both the home and school setting (Fanutzzo et al., 1999). When families are not as engaged in the education, research has shown an increase in negative behavior and decreased achievement in academics (El Nokali, Backman, & Vortuba-Drazal, 2010).

The significance of family engagement in a young child's life not only affects that the child's later academic outcomes, but also serves as an indicator in other areas as well, such as peer interactions and friendship (Lindsey, Sean, & Nebitt, 2010). Children who came from homes where the families were actively engaged with the children through sportive and positive parenting, excelled academically in their initial years of primary school (Fuligni, Han, & Brook-

Gunn, 2004). Van Voorhis (2011) reported that the current literature supports a link between family engagement activities in the home and the parent's beliefs regarding school readiness. However, there is limited data regarding family engagement activities and beliefs regarding school readiness in rural, impoverished areas and how the family engages with the teachers and staff from the local preschool classrooms.

The approach by the early childhood classroom teacher and other staff members to engage the families in the student's educational career is both a significant and essential component in the amount of active family engagement (Fantuzzo, Perry, & Childs, 2006). When families have open two-way communication with the school and can be active in preschoolbased activities, children have greater learning outcomes (Weiss, Caspe, & Lopez, 2006). Writings by Hinde (1987) indicated that interactions between a family and school form a pattern that involve expectations and builds "a quality separate from the interactions themselves" (Pianta &Walsh, 1996, p. 66). This interaction or responsiveness is when teacher or program "meets the families where they are." The program must then take a scaffold approach to provide the needed tools to successfully move the families from where they are, to where they need to be (Christenson, 2004). This responsiveness is an essential component of a high-quality preschool classroom (Hyson, Copple, & Jones, 2006).

According to Powell et al. (2010) the way that a parent perceives the responsiveness of the classroom teacher to the child and the family is a unique component of family and school partnerships. This thinking is rooted in theoretical perspectives by Bronfenbrenner (1979) which identified family-school relationships as a system in which there is a balance of power and open two-way communication between the school and family. The habit of continuous interactions between home and school that are acquired by the family during the preschool year will continue

to occur as the child enters elementary school (Mantizicopoulos, 2003). While this knowledge of family engagement is critical, it is also essential that educators across all areas of education have skills to foster and develop rich connections with the families of the students that they serve. Focus must not only be placed on the type of family involvement, but also the quality of the family involvement (Arnold, O'Leary, & Edwards, 1997).

While there are many benefits of children attending a preschool program, a family must take responsibility for fostering skill development and growth outside of the school setting. Most preschool classes only meet for half of the day, four days a week. For this reason, the family must take responsibility for helping their child learn. Rakies et al. (2006) reported that "at-risk" families who participated in shared reading experiences with children, who were age one, had an increased vocabulary, and this increased vocabulary influenced reading skills at age three. Haney and Hill (2004) found that children, who were engaged at home by the families in activities that focused on direct parent teaching activities in literary skills, increased both letter recognition and phonemic awareness. Parents, who play games with their children, increase their child's ability to solve problems and lengthen their attention span (Leibhaman, Alexander, Johnson, Neitzel, & Reis-Henri, 2005).

Families, who are considered at-risk, often need support from the school in order to learn ways in which to engage their children in learning activates in the home setting (Hart & Risley, 1995). A high-quality preschool will help to develop these skills through rich family engagement activities (Foster, Lambert, Abbott-Shim, McCarty, & Franze, 2005). In both the federally funded Head Start program and the state funded preschools, the main focus is to target families who are deemed "at-risk." Writings by Arnold et al. (2008) explained that family engagement and involvement can occur in variety of ways, and that educators need to develop a working knowledge of the critical components of family involvement and then be able to create an environment in which those occur.

A diverse group of components affect family engagement, with one of the key components being family structure. Berk (2009) indicated that a child's first and longest lasting context for development is the child's family (p. 563). It is evident to most educators and researchers that parents are a child's most important educator, and it is within this primary setting that most children's lives are formed (Hayes, O'Toole, & Halpenny, 2017). Recent research has indicated that it is not what the family dynamics look like (i.e., traditional family, single parent family, other non-traditional family), but the quality of the family process and interactions that occur within the child's natural environment (Halpenny, Greene, & Hogan 2008). In our current climate of testing for kindergarten readiness, it is essential that educators and policymakers enable families to cultivate an environment for learning within the home, regardless of the dynamic of the family make-up (Brooker, 2015).

Family Engagement and Kindergarten Readiness

When looking beyond the realm of educators and policy makers, parents and community members often do not give the most thought and consideration to the time period prior to elementary school in a child's life. However, as a child moves from the early childhood years into elementary school, this transition time period is linked to academic success later in one's educational career, with specific emphasis on the middle and high school years (Butler, Marsh, Sheppard, M., & Sheppard, J., 1985).

Before understanding the role of the family in kindergarten readiness, one must define what kindergarten readiness is. Shonkoff and Phillips (2001) defined being kindergarten ready, when a child can demonstrate the foundational knowledge, skills and behaviors that enable one to participate and succeed in school. In Kentucky, school readiness is defined by saying that each child enters school ready to engage in and benefit from early learning experiences that best promote the child's success and ability to be ready to grow, ready to learn, and ready to succeed (kidsnow.ky.gov).

The transition period from preschool to kindergarten is a critical period and has been labeled by a time period that is essential for later school success (Rimm-Kaufman & Pianta, 2000). Pelletier and Brent (2002) identified children not being school ready when entering the kindergarten year as being a key factor of academic failure during the earliest years of education. Children leaving the early childhood setting not being kindergarten ready has also been linked as an early indicator for problems in adulthood, such as not being able to hold a job and engagement in criminal activity (Power & Hertzman, 1999).

Findings by the National Early Literacy Panel (2008) showed that the literacy and language skills acquired in the preschool setting are linked to a child's reading ability in elementary school. There is some research that does not indicate the longitudinal positive gains for preschool attendance. This could be linked to the decrease of family engagement activities that occur as a child enters elementary school and the reduced amount of open two-way communication between home and school that occurred when the child was in preschool and early elementary school (Fantuzzo, Tighe, & Childs, 2000).

The involvement level of the family both at home and in the classroom during the earliest years of a child's life is an essential element for aiding in the development in a young child's life (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009; Hilado et al., 2011; Mo & Singh, 2008). When families are actively engaged in activities occurring in the preschool classroom, children have an easier transition into the school setting (Olmstead, 1991) Even with this working knowledge of the

essential importance of this time period of a child's life, young children continue to enter elementary school with disadvantages in place (Mollborn, 2016). There have been programs implemented nationwide in order to assist in counteracting this disparity (Barham, 2012); however, these programs target urban areas, with little to no attention given to how the programs assist families who live in rural, impoverished areas. It is this gap in the research, paired with the knowledge of the importance of family engagement being a key indicator of a child's later academic success that is a motivating force for this study. The purpose of this study is to determine how families in rural Western Kentucky engage with their children.

By the end of the 1960's, the United States the governing body had encompassed neoconservatism philosophy and engaged in a war on poverty. One such project implemented, Project Head Start, was a half-day preschool, to help children and families who lived at or below the poverty line. This eight-week expanded into a federally funded program, whose mission is to not only to meet the educational needs of the child, but to also provide supports for families through the use of parent training sessions, nutrition, and access to community based social service programs for families (O'Brien & Dervarics, 2007). One of the foundational philosophies for the Head Start program is family involvement (Arnold, Zelio, Doctoroff, & Ortiz, 2008). Currie and Thomas (1995) found that students served by Head Start, had positive effects on school readiness and these positive effects enable low-income student to reach the same academic success of those peer who live in a higher socioeconomic status. Head Start is a wellestablished program, which allows for longitudinal data to be collected in order to determine the effectiveness of early child programing and school readiness.

In addition to Project Head Start, Chicago public schools initiated the Chicago Child Parent Centers (CPC) to target children and families who live at or below poverty level (Reynolds, Temple, Robertson, & Mann, 2001). The CPC is the second oldest federal preschool program and holds the title as the oldest early intervention program. Funding for the program is provided through Title 1 funds (Chapman, 2010). The CPC premise is not only providing academic focus, but to also target the families of the children served. The program requires family engagement at their child's center no less than one half day per week. This focus on family engagement has been extremely beneficial. Longitudinal data collected from participants of the CPC, indicated that the children of families who participated in the program had 40 percent fewer retention and placements into special education services (Reynolds, Temple, Robertson, & Mann, 2002). Additionally, students who participated in the CPC program had higher reading and math scores as they entered high school, increased graduation rates, and lower arrest rates during the high school years (Chapman 2010; Reynolds et al., 2002).

One of the most monumental and long-lasting studies in the field of early education was The High/Scope Perry Preschool project. "The High/Scope Perry Preschool study was one of the first to address what is now known as the achievement gap, the disparity in academic performance between children born to low-income, highly challenged families with multiple risk factors for academic failure and children from more advantaged backgrounds" (Nelson, 2006, p. 3). This project is of interest to both researchers and practitioners of family engagement, due to the way that family engagement was carried out in the project. The students attend class five days a week for two and one-half hours. The service also included a weekly home visit with the mother and child, which lasted for one and one-half hours (Wat, 2007). The participants were studied through age 40 and it was found that children who participated in the program had much higher scores in language and literacy, throughout their educational career and into adult hood (Chapman, 2010). The High/Scope Perry Preschool project is of particular interest to this study,

38

as it serves as longitudinal study that examined early childhood programs fostering family engagement and parental involvement through parent training activities and provides guidance to the researcher as to how family engagement can be fostered in the rural school systems of Kentucky.

Findings in the literature enforce the importance of family engagement further by introducing discussion regarding developmental ecology. Mollborn (2016) introduced the concept of a developmental ecology, which is the study of everyday components of a child's life, that influence the overall development of a child. The idea of developmental ecology is an essential component of kindergarten readiness, as one of the areas that this concept focuses on is the effect of the family component and the child's transition into kindergarten. Specific focus is given to the child's proximal environment and how changes affect the child. Findings by Cavanagh and Huston (2006) indicated that when a child experiences multiple changes within the family dynamic, there is potential to adversely affect kindergarten readiness. These changes can be the addition or removal of parental romantic partners, the amount of time that they parent(s) spend at work, blended families, and other factors that cause changes within the dynamics of the immediate family (Fombay & Cherlin, 2007). Developmental ecology and a child's proximal environment are supported in earlier works within the literature. Gonzales et al. (2005) presented research that indicated children who indicated that they had a greater interest in learning and more self-confidence had a strong support system at home, which included increased parental involvement. This increased parental involvement leads to increased family engagement. Writings by Mo and Singh (2008) found that students who had a strong relationship with a parent, which were identified as a form of parental involvement, would use this bond to develop educational goals with their parent, and the parents would be more involved and

engaged in school activities. This increased involvement, in turn leads to higher academic achievement over the course of one's academic career.

There has been some research, which contradicts the benefits and importance of family engagement. Robinson and Harris (2012) stated "Most forms of parental involvement do not improve achievement. In some cases, they may hinder it." Garbacz et al. (2017) indicated that while these findings were shocking, the findings do indicate the need to determine if the focus of the family engagement in the rural setting is geared toward behavior or education. The overall purpose of this study is to seek answers to questions that practitioner, researchers, and policy makers have regarding families' views on home learning experiences, and the effects of these experiences on a child's ability to be successful in one's educational career, and the role of early childhood settings and parent school involvement and overall family engagement as the child enters elementary school.

Family Engagement, Kindergarten Readiness, and Socioeconomic Status

When studying a child's ability to start school, being identified as ready to learn, research shows a link between a child's socioeconomic status (SES) and kindergarten readiness. Children who live at or below the poverty line consistently have lower school readiness scores and academic competences when compared to children from more affluent families (Zill, Collins, West, & Hausken, 1995). Huttman (1991) reported that within the socioeconomic classes, the middle class, and working class have higher expectations for their children, than do those of less affluent "at-risk" socioeconomic class. There are other factors that occur within the family based on the families' socioeconomic status. These factors include stress, parenting styles, experiences available to the children in the home, and stressors placed upon the family (Chazen-Cohen et al. 2009). When studying the data from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten

Cohort, it was determined that children who are from homes at or below the poverty line presented with lower scores on both cognitive and languages assessments when entering kindergarten (West, Denton, & Germino-Hausken, 2000). In addition to the SES of a family, there is also a connection between the education level of the parent and the readiness of the child when entering kindergarten (Dotterer, Iruka, & Pungello, 2012).

According to the Children's Defense Fund, while there has been a recent decline in the number of children who live in poverty, an alarming 18% of young children still live in poverty. In 2016, there were over forty million people living at or below poverty in the United States, with nearly one in three people being children (retrieved August 11, 2018 from Childrensdefene.org). Bradley, Corwyn, Burchinal, Pipe-McAdoo, & Garcia (2001) found that children who live in poverty are most affected during the earliest years of one's life. One's SES has a direct correlation on academic achievement, and for children who live at or below the poverty line underachievement in academics is the most prevalent (Brooks-Gunn & Duncan, 1997; Duncan et al., 1998).

In order for a child to be successful at school one must be interested in academia (Eccles & Wigfiled, 2002). Arnold and Doctoroff (2003) defined interest as a group of variables which include interest, motivation, engagement, goals, values, and self-efficacy (p. 520). While children who live in poverty often start school with interest, this interest tends to dissipate during the first few years of one's educational career (Arnold & Doctoroff, 2003; Stipek & Tannatt 1984; Wigfield et al., 1997). Arnold and Doctoroff (2003) provided the following summary regarding children who live in poverty:

In sum, low-SES children often suffer a negative cycle of failure and disinterest, whereby failure increases disengagement, and disaffection fosters additional failure. Hope arises

from the knowledge that equally potent positive cycles are possible, in which academic success could foster interest and vice versa. (p. 522)

A child's SES has also been shown to have a direct link to home learning experiences prior to entering school and this especially true in early literacy skill development (Whitehurst & Lonigan, 1998). Research by McCormick and Mason (1986) found that only half of preschools living at or below the poverty line have alphabet books in their homes, when compared to peers living above the poverty line. This gap is prevalent in the parent's attitudes toward learning and academic expectations in families who are of low SES status (Battin-Pearson et al., 2000). These findings are supported by earlier research by Gottfried, A.E., Flemming, & Gottfried, A.W. (1998) who found that the home environment affects a child's academic interest, and the attitudes of the home toward school vary depending on one's SES status. In addition, the home environment of lower SES children, research has also found that children who live in poverty have less access to high quality education starting at the preschool level (Phillips, Voran, Kisker, Howes, & Whitebrook, 1994; Pianta, La Paro, Payne, Cox, & Bradley, 2002). Research has also found that teachers who work with low-SES student's demonstrate lower expectations and negative perceptions of these students (Alexander et al., 1987; McLoyd, 1998).

Particularly, a child's social emotional development is linked to one's ability to be successful in kindergarten. Social emotional development is directly linked to parent involvement and family engagement (Battin-Pearson et al., 2000). In order to gage the socialemotional development of young children, in order to address the achievement gap, a study was completed in Head Start centers across the United States, in order to help guide policy and program for the youngest learners. The Head Start Impact Study (Administration for Children and Families, 2005) found that the program was helping to increase the social-emotional competences in the children that it serves, but children who live in poverty often have difficulty with the development of social-emotional skills. Writings in the literature indicate child's social emotional skills are direct indicator of their ability to be successful in kindergarten (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). This lack of social skill development, which is linked to levels of family engagement and parental involvement, indicates that there is further need for research in this area. This lack of development is directly related to stress that often affect families that live in poverty (Zill, Moore, Smith, Stief, & Coiro, 1991).

In summary, a child's SES status is directly linked to later academic success or failures, and the foundational skills that are needed for success begin early in one's life. Children with lower SES status are at risk for academic failure due to multiple forces. The current literature compounds a need for more research in order to understand why this is the case, and this compounds the need for this research study by looking at the effect of family engagement and parent involvement in rural state funded preschools.

Parenting Styles

For decades researchers have been interested in how parents impact child development. It is well documented that a parent is the most influential component in the child's over all development (Boateng & Cleveland, 2014). While many researchers have studied the effects of parenting, there is one researcher whose works stand out and have had long lasting impacts on parenting and the role that it plays regarding parent involvement and family engagement. It is through her writings and decade long studies that enabled Baumrind, (1966, 1967, 1971, 1991, 2005) to propose that parenting styles are critical to researchers and practitioners in the classroom when researching parenting. It was through her research that she found two critical components of successful parenting. These two aspects were parental responsiveness and parental demanding (Miguel, Valentim, & Carugati, 2013). It was though Baumrind's two aspects of parenting, that researchers developed four styles of parenting which are identified as: authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent and neglectful or uninvolved (Maccoby & Martin, 1983). Each of these styles are associated with different outcomes and interactions between parent and child, and these interactions and outcomes affect parent involvement and parent teacher interactions.

When considering parenting styles, one must consider the role in which parenting plays when considering parent interactions with the school, family engagement in school related activities and school readiness. When considering the Ecological theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1979) the foundational skills of school readiness start well before the preschool years within the confines of the child's natural environment, the child's home (Sheridan, Rispoli, & Holmes, 2014). One key component of a child being ready to learn in kindergarten is the social emotional development of the child (Fantuzzo et al., 2007; Thompson & Raikes, 2007). A child must be able to interact with both peers and staff by forming relationships. These early relationships are a direct reflection of how the child interacts with the parent, and the parent interacts with the school staff, this interaction depends on the parenting style that is utilized by the family. This ability to interact with one's peers and teachers, participate in classroom activities, enjoy learning and have a smoother transition into kindergarten (Raver & Knitzer, 2002). When interviewing kindergarten teachers, it was found that nearly half of all teachers reported that half of the students who enter kindergarten do not have the needed social-emotional skills to be successful in the kindergarten classroom (Rimm-Kaufman, Pianta & Cox, 2000). Joseph and John (2008) reported that a family's parenting style is a key factor in the overall psychological and social function of the child. It is for this reason that a child's exposure to relationships prior to entering

school are essential for helping to form the child's ability to interact with both peers and adults when entering the kindergarten year.

Parenting Styles and Family Engagement

Numerous studies have been completed to determine the role of parenting style on school success. Spera (Spera, 2005) found that there was direct impact on the academic achievement of the child based on the style of parenting that occurred within the home. One study completed by Matejevic, Jovanovic, & Jovanovic (2014) found that children who come from homes with authoritative parenting styles were more successful in their educational career than those who came from homes with authoritarian or permissive parenting styles. Findings within the literature by Steinberg, Lamborn, & Dornbusch (1992), Lamborn, Mounts, Steinberg, & Dornbusch (1991) and Matejevic et al. (2014) showed that it is essential for school to understand the parenting style of the families that they serve, and provide ways to foster educational activities directed towards the parents in order to promote a culture of parent involvement and family engagement during ones' earliest educational years.

Family Engagement and Parent Involvement in the Rural School

Jung (2016) reported that a study of the literature indicates that there is a difference of parental beliefs regarding academic importance between socioeconomic classes. In the literature, the term academic beliefs occur numerous times. Cannon and Ginsburg's (2008) definition of academic beliefs as the thoughts and views that a parent has regarding what academic skills a child should have prior to kindergarten. Chazen-Cohen et al. (2009) found that the family's socioeconomic status has a significant influence of a child's later academic success. Parents, who

are in the middle and upper class, have a reported higher level of involvement, than lower income families (de Carvalho, 2001). Children who live at or below the poverty line have lower levels of parental involvement and fewer academic gains (Smith, 2006).

Within rural communities, family engagement interactions between the school and family can strengthen support services for the children and the families served by supporting learning and development (Sheridan et al., 2017). As supported in other research, the amount of family engagement is largely based on the quality of the responsiveness between the teacher, parent, and child (Sheridan et al., 2012). Recent research by Sheridan et al. (2017) has found that students in rural communities' benefit from family engagement that is fostered through family school partnerships. Strong family engagement activities that encourage family-school partnerships in impoverished rural areas is a key component for school success.

Even with the understood importance of family engagement in the rural school, family partnerships and meaningful two-way interactions do not always occur. Research by Prater, Bermudez, and Owen (1997) found that rural families interact with teachers and school less often than urban parents. During a 2007 survey of rural families a little over 50% reported being happy with the interactions at their child's school (Provasnik et al., 2007). Additionally, when schools in rural communities do not encourage meaningful family engagement opportunities, there has been a missed chance to input from key stakeholders (Sheridan et al., 2017).

Summary

While there is current data available regarding family engagement being fostered by the school systems, there is limited data available regarding how the families in rural areas actually view and implement home learning activities in the child's natural environment. There are significant gaps within the literature that need to be filled. It is these gaps that support the need

for a study to examine the dynamics of family engagement and parent teacher interaction within rural Western Kentucky. Specifically, looking at the role in which a child's prior setting, the time before entrance into kindergarten, affects how the families of that child interact with school staff once the child enters kindergarten. By completing this research study, the goal is to help close the gaps, that have left policy makers and educators needing more information and data to help drive decision-making in school districts within the rural areas of Kentucky

CHAPTER III. METHODOLGY

The purpose of this study is to determine if a relationship exists between parent/family engagement during at-home learning activities as reported on the *Family Engagement Survey* and the amount of parent teacher communication as reported on the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire*.

It is the goal of the researcher that that the findings of this study will provide educators and policy makers data that will enable a deeper understanding of the significance of at-home learning and the critical role it plays regarding the development of our youngest learners.

Research Design

This study utilized a cross-sectional survey design to seek answers to the following research questions:

Research Question 1

Do parents reported levels of involvement as reported on the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire*, vary based on the type of preschool that their child attended prior to entering kindergarten?

Null hypothesis 1 a: No statistically significant differences will be found in the level of parent involvement as measured by the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* between kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools.

Null Hypothesis 1 b: No statistically significant differences will be found in the level of parent involvement as measured by the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* between

kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who did not attended preschool.

Null Hypothesis 1c: No statistically significant differences will be found in the level of parent involvement as measured by the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* between kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools and kindergarten students who did not attended preschool.

Research Question 2

Does family engagement differ by exposure to schooling prior to kindergarten as measured by on the *Family Engagement Survey*?

Null Hypothesis 2 a: No statistically significant differences I n the reported amount of family engagement as measured by the *Family Engagement Survey* will exist between kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools.

Null Hypothesis 2 b: No statistically significant differences in reported levels of family engagement as measured by the *Family Engagement Survey* will exist between kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who did not attended preschool.

Null Hypothesis 2 c: No statistically significant differences in reported levels of family engagement will exist between kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools and kindergarten students who did not attend preschool.

Research Question 3

Do parents reported levels of involvement on the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* influence family engagement as reported on *the Family Engagement Survey*? **Null Hypothesis 3a.** No statistically significant relationship will exist between parents reported levels of involvement on the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* and family engagement as reported on the *Family Engagement Survey*.

Approach

Before research began, the researcher contacted the school systems to seek permission to conduct the research. Once permission was granted from the districts, parent surveys were sent home with each kindergarten student. Every family of a kindergarten student was given a survey to complete. When the parents completed the survey, they identified the child's prior setting, before entering kindergarten. No family was excluded from the survey. In order to collect the surveys at the end of the assessment window, the researcher placed a collection box or envelope at each site that was selected to participate in the study.

Setting and Sample

This study took place in the western region of Kentucky, specifically in rural counties. The study targeted five school systems, identified as rural based on 2010 Census data collected by the United States government, and published in the Kentucky Annual Economic Report (Troske, Bollinger, Blomquist, Hackbart, & Childress, 2012), and also from the Office of Rural Health Policy List of Rural Counties as based on the 2010 Census report (2018). In addition to the school districts being identified as rural, the criterion was also established that the districts must offer state funded preschool to the families that reside within the district. School districts that are not deemed rural according to census data or have preschool classrooms that are blended with the federally funded Head Start program will be excluded from the study.

Procedures Followed

Approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) was sought from Murray State University. Once approval was granted by IRB, the researcher made contact to the preschool coordinators and some building level administrators through email with a copy of the confirmed consent (See <u>Appendix A</u>). Once the administrators gave permission from the 5 school districts selected for the study, for the researcher to conduct research within the district, the researcher calculated the number of survey packets needed for each school within the district that had kindergarten classes. The researcher prepared a survey packet containing both the FES and the PTIQ (see Appendix B and Appendix C) for each child.

The researcher then hand delivered packets to each school, along with a collection bin for the packets. The researcher made arrangements to come back to the schools and pick up any surveys that were collected by the teachers. Additionally, the researcher also provided prestamped, self-addressed envelopes, to each site, so that any surveys not picked up in person, could be mailed back to the researcher.

Participants were not contacted directly by the researcher, instead a paper packet was sent home with each child enrolled in kindergarten within the selected school districts. Each packet that was sent home with a child contained a cover letter with informed consent, and one copy each of the FES and the PTIQ. The families were asked to complete the surveys and return the completed surveys to their child's teacher. At the end of a two-week period, the researcher returned to each school and collected any survey packets that the teachers had collected.

Data Collection

The families were asked to complete (a) the *Family Engagement Survey* (FES; <u>Appendix</u> <u>B</u>), adapted from the 2007 School Readiness Parent Survey portion of the U.S. Department of Education National Household Education Surveys Program; and (b) the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* (PTIQ; <u>Appendix C</u>), which was adapted for the Fast Track Project which is a longitudinal research project that tracked children from kindergarten through grades five. Permission to use the PTIQ was given through a release letter from the designer of the survey.

The FES, which was adapted from the 2007 School Readiness Parents Survey of the U.S. Department of Education National Household Education Survey (NHES) Program was selected to provide a cross-sectional estimate of children's development in the area of literacy, numeracy, program participation and educational activities that occurred in the child's home (Hagerdorn et al., 2009). The School Readiness Parents Survey was designed through the collaborative efforts of researchers in the academic, private, and government setting (Hagerdon et al., 2009). Hagerdone et al. (2009) further went on to indicate that the survey instrument was vetted via a two-stage filed test. The NHES was developed by the National Center for Education Statistics to study educational issues that cannot be addressed by institutional surveys (Hagerdone et al., 2009, p. 1).

The PTIQ is a 26-item measure that was developed to assess the amount of parent and teacher involvement (Miller-Johnson & Maumary-Gremaud, 1995). The tool looks at both the amount and kinds of contact that occur between the families and the school. The tool also examines the parent's satisfaction of the school, their comfort level of talking to the teacher, and how involved the parent is with their child's education (Miller-Johnson & Maumary-Gremaud,

1995). The items on the questionnaire are coded on a 5-point Likert scale that examines frequency ratings, with a point value being assigned to each response (Corrigan, 2002).

Data Analysis

For data calculation purposes, the FES was divided into five subscales in order to determine the level of family engagement as reported by the families. Within the subscales, lower numerical scores represented more family engagement, while higher numerical scores indicated that the family had less engagement.

These five subscales included:

- Language Engagement- Items 6 (a-c) and 7 (b).
- Creativity Engagement- Items 7 (a-f).
- Cultural Engagement- Items 8 (a-g).
- Numeracy Engagement- Items 9 (a-c).
- Writing Engagement- Items 12 (a-d).

The PTIQ was also grouped into subscales in order to calculate data. The PTIQ was broken into 4 subscales, with higher numerical scores indicating a higher level of involvement, while a lower score indicated less involvement. The four subscales are:

- Quality of the Relationship between Parent and Teacher Items 12-16.
- Parent's Involvement and Volunteering at School Items 6,7, 10, 11, 18-22.
- Parent's Endorsement of Child's School Items 23-26.
- Frequency of Parent-Teacher Contact Items 1-5, 8, 9, 17.

The researcher used SPSS in order to complete statistical analysis of data collected. For research questions 1 and 2, the researcher used independent samples t-test in order to determine if the independent variables identified in each Null Hypothesis affect the dependent variable.

Research question 3 was assessed via a Pearson Correlation to assess relationship between the two dependent variables.

Ethical Considerations

Participation in this study was on a voluntary basis, and each respondent did have the choice to not participate. All survey questions were free from offensive and discriminatory language. In this study, the researcher maintained anonymity and privacy of participants. As the researcher, it was my duty to maintain high levels of objectivity when analyzing data and discussing results and discussing future uses of data collected from this study.

Summary

In this chapter the researcher identified the target population of the study, which is rural Western Kentucky. Participants from five school districts participated the study by completing either paper-based or online surveys. Furthermore, this chapter examined the psychometric properties of the assessments utilized in this study. In addition to discussing the research questions, this chapter also provided support for the proposed statistical analyses.

CHAPTER IV. ANALYSIS OF THE DATA

The purpose of this research study was to investigate the role of family engagement in home learning activities and the role in which parent teacher involvement and interactions influences the home learning and family engagement. In order to answer the research questions as outlined in this study, parents and families in five school districts located within rural Western Kentucky were targeted in order to gain information regarding family engagement and what role if any, this has in impacting the kindergarten readiness of their child when entering school. This study was completed over a two-week window, utilizing quantitative methods. Two survey instruments; *Family Engagement Survey* (FES; Hagerdon et al., 2009) and the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* (PTIQ; Miller-Johnson & Maumary-Gremaud, 1995) were utilized to collect information regarding the level of family engagement and interaction between the parent and the teacher, respectively.

This chapter begins with an overview of the analysis of the quantitative data collected from 5 rural school districts in Western Kentucky, totaling 473 families. The results of the parent's responses were analyzed to assesses the following research questions: (a) Do parents reported levels of involvement as reported on the PTIQ, vary based on the type of preschool that their child attended prior to entering kindergarten? (b) Does family engagement differ by exposure to schooling prior to kindergarten as measured on the FES? (c) Do parents reported levels of involvement on the PTIQ influence family engagement as reported on the FES?

Data Analysis Procedures

The researcher utilized data collected from a single solicitation survey that was conducted during a two-week window in the fall of the of 2018. The instrument was distributed both electronically via an online survey website, as well as a paper-based survey that was sent home to each kindergarten family within the school districts that participated in the study. No identifying information was collected by the researcher.

Response Rate to the Research Survey

The population of this study consisted of five school districts, for a total of 473 families in rural Western Kentucky. Of the 473 families solicited by the survey only 156 families completed the FES. Of the 156 families who completed the FES, only 153 returned the PTIQ to the researcher. Further study of data indicated that out of the total of 153 surveys returned, only 59 of these surveys are viable for data calculations. Therefore, from this point forward all data valuations and analysis are derived from those surveys n = 59. When calculated this left the researcher with an average response rate of 33% for the FES and a minimal 13% response rate for the PTIQ.

Analysis of Descriptive Data

Prior Settings

In relation to the prior setting of the participants children, 18 (30.5%) attended a state funded preschool. When looking at the prior setting of Head Start, 18 (30.5%) reported that their child attended a local Head Start center. 13 (22%) participants reported that their child had attended a private, family paid preschool program prior to entering preschool. Only 9 (15.3%) participants indicated that their child did not attend a formal program before entering kindergarten, and 1 (1.7%) participant did not respond (see Table 1). Table 1

Prior Setting	Frequency	Percent
State Funded Preschool	18	30.5%
Head Start Centers	18	30.5%
Private, Family Paid Preschool	13	22.0%
Did Not Attend Preschool	9	15.3%
No Response	1	1.7%

Frequency Distribution by Prior Setting

N= *59*

Demographics

The demographic data of families who participated in the study were analyzed using descriptive statistics. Frequency distributions are included to provide a clear and concise illustration of the sample population. More specifically, the participants' prior setting nationality, gender, marital status, age, education, and income level, are presented below.

In relation to participants' nationality, 37 (62.7%) participants identified as white, 11 (18.6%) identifies as Asian, 3 (5.1%) participants identified as Black or African American, while 5 respondents chose no response, and 2 participants were missing (3.4%). When researching marital status, 29 (49.2%) of respondents indicated that they were married or in a domestic partnership, 17 (28.8%) of the respondents identified as single, 9 (15.3%) of the respondents were divorced, 3 (5.1%) widowed, and 1 (1.7%) separated. It was of interest to the researcher that 55 participants in the survey identified themselves as female (93.2%), while only 4 participants were male (6.8%) (see Table 2). Table 2 describes a frequency distribution of the sample's reported nationality, gender, and marital status.

Table 2

Characteristics	Frequency	Percent
Nationality		
American Indian or Alaska Native	1	1.7%
Asian	11	18.6%
Black or African American	3	5.1%
White	37	62.7%
No Response	5	9.5%
Missing	2	3.4%
Gender		
Female	55	93.2%
Male	4	6.8%
Marital Status		
Single	17	28.8%
Married/Domestic Partnership	29	49.2%
Widowed	3	5.1%
Divorced	9	15.3%
Separated	1	1.7%

Frequency Distribution by Nationality, Gender, and Marital Status

N=59

Age of Participants

The age of the respondents was also of interest to the researcher, in order to better understand the dynamic make-up of the families who were participating in the study. The researcher broke age responses into five categories (see Table 3). The largest number of respondents fell in the 25 to 34-year age range (52.5%). 28.8% of the respondents indicated that their age falls between 35 and 44-years of age. 16.9% of the respondents indicated that their age placed them into the 18 to 24-year age range. Only once participant in the study indicated that they were aged 55 years plus,

Table 3

Age	Frequency	Percent
18-24 years old	10	16.9 %
25-34 years old	31	52.5%
35 -44 years old	17	28.8%
55 years plus	1	1.7%

Frequency Distribution by Age of Participants

N=59

Education and Income Level

When studying the data regarding the education levels of the parent or family member who was completing the survey, the results were of interest to the researcher (Table 3), as the researcher gained insight into the participants experience with education. 67.8% of the respondents reported an education level of less than a high school diploma. 27.1% of the respondents reported an education level of earning a high-school diploma or GED. Of the 59 surveys returned, no family reported an education level higher than a high school diploma or GED.

Household income was also analyzed as part of the study (see Table 4). Of the 59 surveys used for data calculations, 13.6% of the respondents indicated that the family has a total house hold income level of less than \$20,000 per year. 58.8% of the families indicated that they

had an annual income that ranged from \$20,000 to \$49,000. 11.9% of families reported having annual incomes over \$75,000.

Table 4

Frequency	Percent
40	67.8%
16	27.1%
3	5.1%
8	13.6 %
17	28.8%
13	22.0%
11	18.6%
5	8.5%
2	3.4%
	Frequency 40 16 3 8 17 13 11 5 2 2 2

Frequency Distribution by Educational Level and Income Level

N=59

Data Analysis of Research Questions

Research Question 1

Do parents reported levels of involvement as reported on the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire*, vary based on the type of preschool that their child attended prior to entering kindergarten?

Null Hypothesis 1a: No statistically significant differences will be found in the level of parent involvement as measured by the *Parent Teacher Involvement*

Questionnaire between kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools. An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare parent involvement levels of kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and parent involvement levels of kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools. There was not a significant difference between the levels of parent involvement who attended state funded preschool (M=18.68, SD= 5.750); t(29)= .41, p = .689.

Null Hypothesis 1b: No statistically significant differences will be found in the level of parent involvement as measured by the *Parent Teacher Involvement*

Questionnaire between kindergarten students who state funded preschool and kindergarten students who did not attended preschool. An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare parent involvement levels of kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and parent involvement levels of kindergarten students who did not attend preschool. There was not a significant difference between the levels of parent involvement who's child attended state funded preschool (M = 19.56, SD = 5.863) and the families whose child did not attend preschool (M=18.89, SD=4.885); t(25) = .293, p = .772.

61

Null Hypothesis 1c: No statistically significant differences will be found in the level of parent involvement as measured by the *Parent Teacher Involvement*

Questionnaire between kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools and kindergarten students who did not attended preschool. An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare parent involvement levels of kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools and those of kindergarten students who did not attend preschool. There was no significant difference in the reported levels of family involvement of private, family paid (M = 18.69, SD = 5.750) and those who did not attend preschool (M = 18.89, SD = 4.885); t(20) = -.084, p = .934.

Research Question 2

Does family engagement differ by exposure to schooling prior to kindergarten as measured by on the *Family Engagement Survey*?

Null Hypothesis 2a: No statistically significant differences in the reported amount of family engagement will exist between students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools. An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare the reported level of family engagement between students who attended state-funded preschool and students who attended private, family paid preschools. There was no significant difference in the reported levels of family engagement for state funded preschool (M = 30.83, SD = 3.276) and private, family paid

preschool (M = 31.69, SD = 3.59); t(29) = -.692, p = .494.

Null Hypothesis 2b: No statistically significant differences in reported levels of family engagement will exist between kindergarten students who attended state funded preschool and kindergarten students who did not attended preschool. An independent-samples t-test was
conducted to compare the reported level of family engagement between students who attended state-funded preschool and students who did not attended preschool. There was not a significant difference in the reported levels of family engagement for state funded preschool (M = 30.83, SD = 3.276) and students who did not attend preschool (M = 30.56, SD = 1.94); t(25) = .233, p = .817.

Null Hypothesis 2c: No statistically significant differences in reported levels of family engagement will exist between kindergarten students who attended private, family paid preschools and kindergarten students who did not attend preschool. Independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare the reported levels of family engagement between families who attended private, family paid preschools, and that of families whose child did not attend preschool. There was no significant difference for private, family paid preschool (M = 31.69, SD = 3.59) and did not attend preschool (M = 30.56, SD = 1.94); t(20) = .862, p = .399.

Research Question 3

Do parents reported levels of involvement, as measured by the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire*, influence family engagement, as measured by the *Family Engagement Survey*? A Pearson Product-moment correlation coefficient was computed to assess the relationship between parental involvement and family engagement.

Null Hypothesis 3a. No statistically significant relationship will exist between parents reported levels of involvement on the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* and family engagement as reported on the *Family Engagement Survey*.

There was a positive correlation between the two variables, r = .530, n = 59, p < .05. There was also a positive correlation between language engagement and writing engagement in the child's home, r = .409, n = 59, p < .05. Also, as indicated in Table 4, there is significant

Table 5

Pearson Correlations of Influence of family engagement (FES) on Involvement based on the (PTIQ)

(112)		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1. Language Engagement	Pearson Correlation	1	.124	.168	.409**	.530**	008	.060	051	167
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.348	.204	.001	.000	.954	.651	.702	.207
	Ν	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59
2. Cultural Engagement	Pearson Correlation	.124	1	.167	.006	.013	329*	235	.074	.095
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.348		.207	.963	.925	.011	.073	.579	.476
	Ν	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59
3. Creativity Engagement	Pearson Correlation	.168	.167	1	.165	.158	072	085	254	.031
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.204	.207		.212	.231	.586	.523	.052	.814
	Ν	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59
4. Writing Engagement	Pearson Correlation	.409**	.006	.016	1	.522**	058	157	124	079
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.963	.212		.000	.663	.235	.351	.554
	Ν	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59
5. Math Engagement	Pearson Correlation	.530**	.013	.158	.522**	1	.210	.032	144	180
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.925	.231	.000		.110	.811	.275	.172
	N	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59
6. Freq. of Parent teacher contact	Pearson Correlation	008	329*	072	058	.210	1	.653**	.241	.128
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.954	.011	.586	.663	.110		.000	.066	.335
	Ν	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59

7. Parent Involvement	Pearson Correlation	.060	235	085	157	.032	.653**	1	.222	.155
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.651	.073	.523	.235	.811	.000		.092	.240
	Ν	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59
8. Parents Endorsement of school	Pearson Correlation	051	.074	254	124	144	.241	.222	1	.155
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.702	.579	.052	.351	.275	.066	.092		.240
	Ν	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59
9. Parent teacher Relationship	Pearson Correlation	167	.095	.031	079	180	.128	.155	.398**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.207	.476	.814	.554	.172	.335	.240	.002	
	Ν	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59	59

N=59

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Summary

This chapter provided a quantitative analysis of the data collected within the study. The data was collected over a two-week period using paper based and online surveys. Upon the end of the collection window of the 156 surveys that were returned, only 59 of the surveys met the required conditions to be useable by the researcher. The analysis of the data revealed that there was not a statically significant difference between the parents reported levels of involvement as reported on the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* and preschool experience. Additionally, analysis of the data revealed that there was not a statically

significant difference between family engagement as measured by the *Family Engagement Survey* and exposure to schooling prior to kindergarten. Finally, aspects of parents reported levels of involvement on the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* did influence aspects of family engagement as reported on the *Family Engagement Survey*.

CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION

In this chapter, the researcher will discuss implications gleaned from the conducted research study. Also, the researcher will provide a discussion of the limitations of the study's findings, and give recommendations for future research. The final component of this chapter will focus on a summary of the study and how findings from the study align with P-20 initiatives that promotes a seamless learning experience from the earliest years of one's life until they leave the school setting and enter the workforce.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this research study was to investigate the role of family engagement in home learning activities and the role in which parent teacher involvement and interactions influences the home learning and family engagement. In order to answer the research questions as outlined in this study, parents and families in five school districts located within rural Western Kentucky were targeted in order to gain information regarding family engagement and what role if any, this has in impacting the kindergarten readiness of their child when entering school. This study was completed over a two-week window, utilizing quantitative methods. Two survey instruments, *Family Engagement Survey* (FES; Hagedorn et al., 2009) and the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire* (PTIQ, Miller-Johnson & Maumary-Gremaud, 1995) were utilized to collect information regarding the level of family engagement and engagement between the parent and the teacher, respectively. It is the goal of the researcher that that the findings of this study will provide educators and policy makers data that will enable a deeper understanding of the significance of at-home learning and the critical role it plays regarding the development of our youngest learners.

Discussion of Findings

In this research study, three research questions were developed to help guide the study of the effects of parent teacher interactions and family engagement on kindergarten readiness of students living in five rural school districts in Western Kentucky. Of the school systems, one school system to did not accurately report a child's prior setting, and there for their data was not able to be used within the study, and the finally results were based on surveys returned in 4 school districts in rural Western Kentucky

Research Question 1

The first research question in this study focused on finding the differences between the reported levels of parent involvement as reported on the PTIQ and the prior setting in which the child attended before entering kindergarten. Interestingly, this study did not result in any significant interactions between the type of preschool that a child attended prior to entering kindergarten and the level of parent and teacher involvement during the child's kindergarten year of schooling. More specifically the results of this research study indicated that not only is there no difference between the reported levels of parent involvement from families of children who attended state funded and private preschools settings. Additionally, there was no difference in the reported levels of parent teacher involvement of those who attended some type of preschool when compared to those who did not attend school at all.

Some existing research supports this notion. When studying current data and research studies that focus on parent involvement, the findings within this study align with trends found in the current data. Sawyer (2015) indicated that research shows a clear and steady decline in parent involvement in the past few years. Specifically, during the kindergarten year, research by

Reinhardt (2016) showed that while parents' express interest in helping in the classroom, there is low parental involvement. There are many reasons as to why a parent might not be involved. Some of these reasons include, but not limited to: lack of time (Stone & Chakroborty, 2011), lack of transportation (Lee & Bowen, 2006), and not feeling welcomed by the classroom or school (Lee & Bowne, 2006). Education level of the parent may also be another reason that parents may have a low involvement rate (Duchane, Coulter-Kern, & DePlanty, 2007).

The benefits of parent involvement have been clearly documented in the literature. Sawyer (2015) indicated that parent involvement sends a message to the child that school is important and should be viewed as a "valued institution" (p.172). In the field of P-20 education the goal is to create a seamless continuum from the earliest years of a child's life, until that child leaves the education setting and enters the workforce. The results of this study combined with findings in current data indicates an area of need that must be addressed by educators, administrators, and researchers. This is of particular interest to P-20 education researchers who are constantly seeking new and innovative ways to improve the education filed. It is through P-20 research that one can find solutions and new ways to involve families in their child's education, starting at the earliest years of one's life.

Research Question 2

The second research question in this study focused on finding the differences between the reported levels of family engagement as reported on the *FES* and the prior setting in which the child attended before entering kindergarten. Interestingly, this study did not result in any significant interactions between the type of preschool that a child attended prior to entering kindergarten and the level of family engagement as reported on the FES. More specifically, this research indicated that not only was there no difference between state funded and private

preschools settings, there was also no difference in the reported level of family engagement of those children who attended some type of preschool when compared to those who did not attend school at all. Current research shows that many early childhood education programs fail to engage families as active partners in their child's educational career and instead families are often viewed as recipients of the educational process (Sheridan, Knoche, Edwards, Bovaird, & Kupzyk, 2010). When looking at data collected from rural areas versus urban areas, research indicates that there is a difference in the level of family engagement that occurs between the two areas. For instance, Keys (2013) found that families who live in rural areas have an overall difference in the reported level of family engagement when compared to their urban peers. Many preschool programs work very hard to support and develop family engagement, however many families from lower income do not participate in the activities (Bierman, Morris, & Abenayoli (2017). This link of engagement outside of the school setting gives hope that school administrators, P-20 education researchers, and community stakeholders, will be able to close the gap that exist due to socio-economic disadvantages that often occur in rural areas with innovative concepts and new ideas.

Research Question 3

Of particular interest to the researcher was the amount of family engagement related to parent teacher involvement. The results of the calculations in this study indicated that there were significant correlations between reported levels of involvement on the PTIQ and the FES. Specifically, correlations were found between language engagement and both writing and math engagement. This positive correlation is of interest to the researcher as it links a family's verbal engagement with their child, while also adding to the development and writing and math skills through home learning engagement activities. Additionally, this study found that families who had more contacts with the classroom teacher, reported higher levels of parent involvement in school activities. This study also found that families who have increased levels of teacher contacts, were more likely to endorse their child's school.

Findings in the literature that discuss intensive family engagement strategies implemented by schools, support the findings in this study. Bierman, Morris, and Abenayoli (2017) reported that preschool programs who utilize intensive, more involved strategies to increase the amount of family engagement, had better success at closing the gaps often associated with economically disadvantaged families, such as those families targeted in this study.

The numerous statistical correlations between variables of reported levels of family engagement and the reported amount of parent-teacher involvement, provide strong indications that for students and families to be successful during the early years of one's education there must be a continuous fluid relationship between the family and the teacher (or the school). This fluidity allows open lines of communication between both parties, which in turns enables growth of the child, while the family has a positive school experience. As the field of P-20 education continues to evolve, researchers, school leaders, and classroom teachers must continue to look for innovative ideas that can be easily molded to fit the particular needs of each family. It is through these innovative methods and open, honest communication that family engagement will be facilitated, thus increasing the overall educational success of the child.

Implications

Based on the outcomes of the quantitative research in this study, there was no statistically significant relationship between a child's prior setting before entering kindergarten and the reported levels of parent teacher interactions as reported on the PTIQ and reported level of

family engagement as reported on the FES. However, results from the study found that there is a correlation between family engagement and parent teacher involvement. While the finding that there is a correlation between parent teacher involvement and family engagement, when looking at the educational pipeline, only 22% of 4-year-old children attend some type of preschool, and the percentage of 3-year old's is even lower, at a mere 3% (Lucido, 2008). When looking at the total educational career of a child, research has shown over and over again that students who come from families with a higher level of family engagement then students have both higher GPA's as well as a greater chance at successfully completing high school and moving into some type of higher education or career training path. With the overall trend in the current data showing that family engagement is a critical component to the overall educational success, families who live in rural, poverty-stricken areas are not participating in engagement activities in the school setting. Therefore, within the field of P-20 education, where policy makers, researchers, and educators are striving to create a seamless continuum, it is critical that novel methods are developed to engage families in their child's education.

Based on results yielded from this study, the following recommendations are provided to school districts, classroom teachers, and P-20 researchers who are currently looking for ways to increase students' levels of kindergarten readiness, foster a culture of meaningful parent teacher interactions, and raise the level of family engagement in educational activities when entering kindergarten.

Accurate data collection. School districts will ensure that a child's prior setting (state funded preschool, Head Start, private family pay preschool, or no preschool) before kindergarten is accurately recorded and entered, so that researchers are able to accurately study the districts kindergarten readiness data. Additionally, educators within the district will have tools to accurately analyze preschool programs and community outreach programs. This will enable both researchers and school districts to look for weakness or lack of family engagement within early childhood programs and provide immediate interventions to best meet the needs of the child.

Increase the amount of parent teacher interaction. School district administrators and classroom teachers must work diligently in order to increase the amount of teacher and parent interactions. Interestingly while this study did not show significant findings between a child's prior setting during the preschool years, there are direct correlations between parent teacher interactions, as reported on the PTIQ and the level of family engagement as reported on the FES. Findings from this study suggest that school districts implement procedures that encourage more interactions between teachers and the families of the students they serve. Suggested activities include yearly home visits, open houses each nine weeks that school is in session, and weekly communication between staff and family. It is also recommended that school systems utilize social media to their advantage in order to share information and provide families more access to information about the school and employees of the school who work with their children.

Provide home learning activities for families to increase family engagement in the early childhood setting. Early childhood classroom instructors should send weekly activities home for the family and child to complete in the child's natural environment so that the child is better able to generalize early learning skills. An additional component of fostering family engagement is the concept of developing community engagement. When families are partnered with resources within the community there is a reduction in the factors that placed the child "atrisk" and allows for successful gains in the child's overall development (Kirp, 2007). Hildado (2011) indicated that while there are obvious benefits to the collaborative partnerships between families and social resources, there is not a clear understanding of the relationship between level of parent involvement with the utilization of community based social resources (p. 345).

P-20 Implications

Within the field of P-20 education and community leadership, the goal is to create a pipeline that allows a continuous flow from the beginning of a child's educational career to the end (and beyond), then we must strive to find ways as cohort to bring families, who are at the root the most significant factor in a child's development, to the education table. Not only is it essential that we find ways to foster family engagement in the earliest years of one's life, it is critical that we as educators keep the lines of communication open, so that as the child moves down the education pipeline, the families remain actively engaged in and a part of their child's educational career, so that we are able to help students reach their full potential and become the next generation of innovate thinkers.

Additionally, in order to increase family engagement, and facilitate parent involvement, one must look at making changes within the current curriculum of teacher preparation programs in the United States. While it is critical that programs focus on pedagogy and classroom management, in order to provide a well-rounded educator, we must also provide new teachers with skills to work with families. Faculty and staff who work in teacher preparatory programs need to provide classes that allow teacher prep candidates the opportunity to study the importance of parent involvement and family engagement in-depth. In addition to training that would occur in the classroom setting, the program would also include assignments that require the teacher prep candidates to interact with families. These interactions would serve as opportunities that are supervised, so that they are able increase skills they currently possess and to learn new skills that will enable to them to engage families at a higher level when they enter their own classrooms.

While the sample size of the study was small, the 59 families who did complete the questionnaire were able to provide significant results that indicated that parents who interact with the classroom teacher, participate in more home learning activities as reported on the Family Engagement Survey. As current trends in data have shown over and over again, the level of family engagement and parent teacher interactions have potential to shape the entire educational career of a child. Within the field of early education, educational leaders have a prime opportunity to create a culture of family engagement and open communication between the school and the family. The first experience that a family has with a school system or educational program is often an interaction between a parent and preschool teacher or other preschool staff members. It is through these initial meetings and engagements, that educators have the ability to lay the foundation for parent teacher involvement and family engagement, that will last through out the child's educational career. Therefore, it is essential that our P-20 educational cohort (classroom teachers, school administration, college educators and researchers) work together to create a toolkit that enables early childhood educators to reach beyond the walls of their classroom.

Limitations

Throughout the course of this study, the researcher faced some limitations. Simon (2011) stated that limitations are potential weakness that is out of one's control when completing a research study. Limitations for the current study are discussed below.

Access to Prior Settings

When obtaining kindergarten readiness scores, one school district did not report prior settings for their kindergarten students. This non-reporting of prior setting affected the data, and due to small sample size prevented some statistical calculations. It is also important to note that in very small school districts, prior settings are not publicly reported due to the small number of students, and if published they could be identified.

Lack of Participation

While 156 *Family Engagement Surveys* were returned to the researcher, families did not participate as fully with the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire*. Ninety-seven families did not complete the *Parent Teacher Involvement Questionnaire*. This left only 59 surveys that could be used for statistical calculations. Based on sample size calculations, 300 surveys would have yielded optimal results, while the sample size for this study of 59, allowed for potentially skewed results that are not an accurate reflection of the population.

Size of School Districts

Of the five school districts used for this study, two districts were very small in relation to other districts in the study. While it was not surprising to find small classes, thus yielding a small sample size. The small size of the study (n = 59) causes limitations that can affect the overall outcomes of the study (Farber & Fonseca, 2014). Small sample size might not accurately reflect the levels of family engagement and parent teacher involvement within rural Western Kentucky. Ideally, based on the population of the area that was surveyed, 300 returned surveys would have yielded a more accurate reflection of family engagement and parenteral involvement.

Research Design

An additional limitation for this study was research design. The researcher relied on family's willingness to participate in the survey, without any explanation other than a written invitation letter, and the survey packet. It is feasible that families may have not understood questions, or been able to read the questions on the survey and given answers that did not reflect the activities within the home. In addition to not understanding the questions on the survey, the research design did not take into account families who spoke and read languages other than English.

Recommendations for Future Research

Based on the results of this study, the researcher is making the following recommendations for future research by school districts and education researchers. The recommendations are mainly focused on the need for further research of the role of family engagement and kindergarten readiness:

1. Mixed methods studies need to be completed on a larger scale within the rural areas of Kentucky in order to determine a child's prior setting and be able to gain parental insights regarding connecting with preschool staff. In order to carry out this mixed method study it is recommended that the FES and PTIQ be administered on a larger scale across the Commonwealth. Additionally, a qualitative aspect to the study that consists of parent interviews could be used to determine obstacles that parents and families face that might inhibit family engagement and parental involvement. The study could also include teachers and inquire about obstacles that they encounter regarding parental involvement.

- 2. More research needs to be completed in the area of family engagement during the preschool year and the role that this engagement has on kindergarten readiness. The surveys would be administered at the beginning of the preschool year to establish a baseline, and then at the end of the preschool year in order to determine the level of engagement that occurred as the school year progressed.
- **3.** Research within prior settings before kindergarten needs to be completed in order to determine parent and teacher involvement between students enrolled in state funded preschools and children who attend private/family paid preschools. This recommendation is being made, with the understanding that the research take place on a larger scale and include at least 15 school systems in the western portion of the state that meet the qualifications to be considered rural.
- 4. Additional research needs to be completed that looks at the reported levels of family engagement and parental involvement within single parent households and households that have two parents present. In an ad-hoc analysis of data collected in this study, it was determined that there was not a statically significant difference in between families who identified as single (M=60.65, SD=2.48) and married or domestic partnerships (M=65.90, SD=2.39); t(44) = 1.43, p = .159. Due to the small nature of this study, these findings might potentially be skewed, thus yielding inaccurate results of how the number of household members affects reported levels of engagement. By conducting research on a larger scale that focuses on single households and households made up of two or more parents, it is of interest to see how the size of the study could potentially yield different results.

Summary and Conclusion

Upon review of the literature, findings from previous studies, as well as this study, it evident that a child's emotional development is clearly linked the development of higher order cognitive skills and school readiness (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). In addition to emotional development, Green et al. (2012) found that development in social skills, self-regulation, emotional control, and attention is critical for school readiness. Lavigne et al. (1996) reported that children with delays in social emotional development when entering school have problems later in their academic career. These are all areas that families have the greatest ability to create lasting change in their child's life, through family engagement activities geared toward both cognitive development and social emotional development in the child's natural environment.

In order to help guide educators, lawmakers, and families in rural Western Kentucky three research questions were drafted in order to guide the research that sought to seek answers about how families and teachers interacted. When this cohesion occurs and an early childhood program links the stakeholders-families, educators, children, and members from the community, the programs value expands, and the possibility of long-term engagement will improve. While the research in this study did not yield the desired the outcome of demonstrating the statistical significance desired, it did yield insight into family engagement and parent teacher involvement within rural Western Kentucky. Educators, policy makers, and academia that focuses on P-20 research can use the implications gleaned from this study to help guide further research in order to provide the highest level of learning to our youngest learners.

References

- Alexander, K., Entwisle, D., & Thompson. M. (1987). School performance, status relations, and the structure of sentiment: bringing the teacher back in. *American Sociology Review*, 52, 665–682.
- Arnold, D. H., & Doctoroff, G. L. (2003). The early education of socioeconomically disadvantaged children. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 54(1), 517-545.
- Arnold, D. H., Zeljo, A., Doctoroff, G. L., & Ortiz, C. (2008). Parent involvement in preschool:
 Predictors and the relation of involvement of preliteracy development. *School Psychology Review*, 37(1).
- Bainbridge, J., Meyers, M., Tanako, S., & Waldfogel, J. (2005). Who gets an early education?
 Family income and the gaps in enrollment of 3- to 5-year olds from 1968–2000. *Social Science Quarterly*, 86, 724–745.
- Bakken, L., Brown, N., & Downing, B. (2017). Early childhood education: The long-term benefits. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, *31*(2), 255-269.
- Barham, T. (2012). Enhancing cognitive functioning: Medium-term effects of a health and family planning program in Matlab. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 4(1), 245-273.
- Barnett, W. S., Friedman-Krauss, A. H., Weisenfeld, G. G., Horowitz, M., Kasmin, R., & Squires, J. H. (2017). *The state of preschool 2016: State preschool yearbook*. New Brunswick, NJ: National Institute for Early Education Research.
- Barnett, W. S., Hustedt, J. T., Robin, K. B., & Schulman, K. L. (2003). *The state of preschool*.Rutgers, NJ: National Institute for Early Education Research
- Barnett, K., & Yarosz, D. J. (2004) Who goes to preschool and why does it matter? *Preschool Policy Matters*, 7.

- Battin-Pearson, S., Newcomb, M. D., Abbott, R. D., Kill, K. G., Catalano, R. F., & Hawkins, J. D. (2000). Predictors of early high-school drop-out: A test of five theories. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *92*, 568–582.
- Baumrind, D. (1966). Effects of authoritative parental control on child behavior. *Child Development*, *37*(4), 887-907.
- Baumrind, D. (1967). Child care practices anteceding three patterns of preschool behavior. *Genetic Psychology Monographs*, 75, 43–88.
- Baumrind, D. (1971). Current patterns of parental authority. *Developmental Psychology*, *4*, 1–103.
- Baumrind, D. (1989). Rearing competent children. In W. Damon (Ed.), *Child Development Today and Tomorrow* (pp. 349–378). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Baumrind, D. (1991). The influence of parenting style on adolescent competence and substance abuse. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, *11*, 56–95.
- Baumrind, D. (2005). Patterns of parental authority and adolescent autonomy. *New Directions* for Child and Adolescent Development, 108, 61-69.
- Beatty, B. R. (1981). A vocation from on high: Preschool advocacy and teaching as an occupation for women in nineteenth-century Boston. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Harvard Graduate School of Education.
- Benson, L., & Mokhtari, M. (2011). Parental employment, shared parent–child activities, and childhood obesity. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, *32*(2), 233–240.
- Berk, L.E. (2009). *Child development, Books a la carte edition* (8th ed.). New York, NY: Pearson.

- Bierman, K. L., Morris, P. A., & Abenyoli, R. (2017). Parent engagement practices improve outcomes for preschool children. Edna Bennett Pierce Prevention Research Center, Pennsylvania State University. https://www.peopleservingpeople.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/02/Parent_Engagement Preschool Outcomes.pdf
- Boateng, E., & Cleveland, B. (2014). Traditional parenting styles: Tried and true? Or dated? An analysis of Baumrind's parenting styles and modern parenting advice. Developmental Psychology and Vanderbilt. Retrieved from: https://my.vanderbilt.edu/developmentalpsycholdogyblog/2014/05/traditional-parenting-

styles-tried-and-true-or-dated-an-analysis-baumrind%E2%99s-parenting-styles-and-mondern-parenting-advice-2/

Bloom, B. (1964). Stability and change in human characteristics. New York, NY: Wiley.

- Bradley R. H., Corwyn, R. F., Burchinal, M., Pipes- McAdoo, H., & Garcia, C. (2001). The home environments of children in the United States part II: Relations with behavioral development through age thirteen. *Child Development*, 72, 1868–1886.
- Brooker, L. (2005). Learning to be a child: Cultural diversity and early years ideology. In N.Yelland (Ed.), *Critical Issues in Early Childhood Education* (pp. 115-130). Maidenhead:Open University Press.
- Brooks-Gunn, J., & Duncan, G. (1997). The effects of poverty on children. *The Future of Children*, 7(2), 55–71.
- Brooks-Gunn, J., Duncan, G. J., & Aber, J. L. (Eds.). (1997). *Neighborhood poverty: Context and consequences for children* (Vol. 1). New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1967/2005). The split-level American family. In U. Bronfenbrenner (Ed.),
 Making human being human: Bioecological perspectives on human development (pp. 201-209). London: Sage.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bronson, M.B. (2000). *Self-regulation in early childhood: Nature and nurture*. New Your, NY: Guliford Press.
- Bryant, W. K., & Zick, C. D. (1996). An examination of parent–child shared time. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 58(1), 227-238
- Burkam, D. T., Ready, D. D., Lee, V. E., & Logerfo, L. F. (2004). Social-class differences in summer learning between kindergarten and first grade: Model specification and estimation. *Sociology of Education*, 77, 1-31.
- Butler, S. R., Marsh, H. W., Sheppard, M. J., & Sheppard, J.L. (1985) Seven-year longitudinal study of the early prediction of reading achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77(3), 349-361.
- Cahan, E. D. (1989). Past caring: A history of U.S. preschool care and education for the poor, 1820-1965. New York, NY: National Center for Children in Poverty, Columbia University.
- Cannon, J., & Ginsburg, H. P. (2008). "Doing the math": Maternal beliefs about early mathematics versus language learning. *Early Education and Development*, 19(2), 238–260.
- Cavanagh, S. E., & Huston, A. C. (2006). Family instability and children's early problem behavior. *Social Forces*, *85*, 551-581.

- Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University (2017). Three principles to improve outcomes for children and families. https://developingchild.harvard.edu/
- Chapman, A. M. (2010). Examining the effects of pre-kindergarten enrollment on kindergarten reading readiness. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ERIC. (ED524935).
- Chapman, C., Laird, J., Ifill, N., & Kewal-Ramani, A. (2011). Trends in high school dropout and completion rates in the United States: 1972–2009 (Compendium report NCES 2012-006).
 Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Chazen-Cohen, R., Raikes, H., Brooks-Gunn, J., Ayoub, C., Kisker, E. E., Roggman, L., & Fuligni, A.S. (2009). Low-income children's school readiness: Parent contributions over the first five years. *Early Education and Development*, 20(6), 958-977.
- Chetty, R., Hendren, N., & Katz, L. F. (2016). The effects of exposure to better neighborhoods on children: New evidence from the moving to opportunity experiment. *The American Economic Review*, 106(4), 855-902.
- Childrensdefense.org. (2017). Children's defense fund child poverty in America 2016: National Analysis. [online] Available at: http://www.childrensdefense.org/library/data/child-poverty-in-america-2016.pdf.
- Christenson, S. L. (2004). The family school partnership: An opportunity to promote the learning competence of all students. *School Psychology Review*, *33*, 83-105.
- Comer, J., & Ben-Avie, M. (2010). Promoting community in early childhood programs: A comparison of two programs. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *38*(2), 87-94.
- Comer, J. P., & Haynes, N. M. (1991). Parent involvement in schools: An ecological approach. *The Elementary School Journal*, *91*(3), 271–277.

- Community-University Partnership for the Study of Children, Youth, and Families (2011). *Review of the Brigance Inventory of Early Development II (IED-II)*. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.
- Conduct Problems Prevention Research Group (CPPRG). (1991). Parent–Teacher Involvement Questionnaire: Parent Version. Available from the Fast Track Project Web site, http://www.fasttrackproject.org
- Connell, C. M., & Prinz, R. J. (2002). The impact of childcare and parent–child interactions on school readiness and social skills development for low-income African American children. *Journal of School Psychology*, 40(2), 77–93.
- Copple, C., & Bredekamp, S. (2009). Developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood programs serving children from birth through age 8 (3rd ed.). Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Corrigan, A. (2002). Parent-Teacher Involvement Questionnaire: Parent Version (Fast Track Project Technical Report). Available from the Fast Track Project Web site, http://www.fasttrackproject.org
- Cunha, F., Heckman, J. J., Lochner, L. J., & Masterov, D. (2006). Interpreting the evidence on life cycle skill formation, Handbook of the Economics of Education, In E.A. Hanushek, and F. Welch (Eds.), *Handbook of the Economics of Education*, (1st ed., Vol 1., pp. 697-812). Elsevier.
- Currie, J., & Duncan, T. (1995). Does head start make a difference?. *The American Economic Review*, 85(3), 341-364.
- Dahl, G. B., & Lochner, L. (2012). The impact of family income on child achievement: Evidence from the earned income tax credit. *American Economic Review*, *102*(5), 1927–1956.

- Davis, M., & Hansen, R. (1933). Nursery schools: Their development and current practices in the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office. Department of Education, Commonwealth of Kentucky.
- de Carvalho, M. E. (2001). *Rethinking family school relations: A critique of parental involvement in schooling*. Teacher's College Press.
- Dotterer, A.M., Iruka, I.U., & Pungello, E. (2012). Parenting, race, and socioeconomic status:
 Links to school readiness. . *Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies*, 61, 657-670.
- Duchane, K., Coulter-Kern, R., & DePlanty, J. (2007). Perceptions of parent involvement in academic achievement. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *100*(6), 361-368.
- Duncan, G. J., Brooks Gunn, J., & Klebanov, P. K. (1994). Economic deprivation and early childhood development. *Child Development*, 65(2), 296–318.
- Duncan, G. J., Dowsett, C. J., Claessens, A., Magnuson, K., Huston, A. C., & Klebanov, P.,
 (2007). School readiness and later achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 43, 1428–1446.
- Duncan, G., Morris, P., & Rodrigues, C. (2011). Does money really matter? Estimating impacts of family income on young children's achievement with data from random-assignment experiments. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(5), 1263-1279.
- Durand, T.M. (2011). Latino parental involvement in kindergarten: Findings from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *33*, 469-489.
- Eccles, J.S., & Harold, R.D. (1996). Family involvement in children's and adolescents' schooling. In A. Booth, & Dunn, J. F. (Eds.), *Family-school links: How do they affect educational outcomes* (pp. 3-34). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

- Eccles, J.S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *53*, 109-132.
- El Nokali, N. E., Bachman, H. J., & Votruba-Drzal, E. (2010). Parent involvement and children's academic and social development in elementary school. *Child Development*, *81*, 988–1005.
- Epstein, J. L., & Dauber, S.L. (1991). School programs and teacher practices of parent involvement in inner-city elementary and middle schools. *The Elementary School Journal*, *91*(3), 289-305.
- Epstein, J. L. (1996). Perspectives and previews on research and policy for school, family, and community partnerships. In A. Booth & J. F. Dunn (Eds.), *Family-school links: How do they affect educational outcomes?* (pp. 209–246). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Epstein, J. L. (2011). School, family, and community partnerships: Preparing educators and improving schools. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Espinosa, L. M., Thornburg, K. R., & Mathews, M. C. (1997) Rural kindergarten teachers' perceptions of school readiness: A comparison with the Carnegie study. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *25*, 119–125.
- Evans, M. A., & Shaw, D. (2008). Home grown for reading: Parental contributions to young children's emergent literacy and word recognition. *Canadian Psychology*, *49*(2), 89–95.
- Farber, J., & Fonseca, L. M. (2014). How sample size influences research outcomes. *Dental Press Journal of Orthodontics*, 19(4), 27–29.
- Fantuzzo, J., Tighe, E., & Childs, S. (2000). Family Involvement Questionnaire: A multivariate assessment of family participation in early childhood education. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92(2), 367–370.

- Fantuzzo, J., McWayne, C., & Perry, M. A. (2004). Multiple dimensions of family involvement and their relations to behavioral and learning competencies for urban, low-income children. *School Psychology Review*, 33, 467–480.
- Fantuzzo, J., Perry, M., & Childs, S. (2006). Parent satisfaction with education experiences scale: A multivariate examination fo parent interaction with early childhood education programs. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 21, 142-152.
- Fombay, P., & Cherlin, A. J. (2007). Family instability and child well-being. American Sociological Review, 72(2), 181-204.
- Forest, I. (1927). *Preschool education: A historical and critical study*. New York, NY: Macmillan.
- Foster, M. A., Lambert, R., Abbott-Shim, M., McCarty, F., & Franze, S. (2005). A model of home learning environments and social risk factors in relation to children's emergent literacy and social outcomes. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 20(1), 13-36
- Fuligni, A. S., Han, W., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2004). The Infant–Toddler HOME in the 2nd and 3rd years of life. *Parenting; Science and Practice*, 4, 139–159.
- Garbacz, A. S, Herman, K. C., Thompson, A. M., & Reinke, W. M. (2017). Family engagement in education and intervention: Implementation and evaluation to maximize family, school, and student outcomes. *Journal of School Psychology*, 62, 1-10. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2017.04.002.
- Garmezy, N. (1991). Resilience and vulnerability to adverse developmental outcomes associated with poverty. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *34*, 416–430.
- Geoffroy, M., Co^{*}te['], S. M., Gigue^{*}re, C.-E., Dionne, G., Zelazo, P. D., & Tremblay, R. E. (2010). Closing the gap in academic readiness and achievement: The role of early

childcare. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, *51*(12), 1359–1367.

- Gershoff, E. T., Aber, J. L., Raver, C. C., & Lennon, M. C. (2007). Income is not enough:
 Incorporating material hardship into models of income associations with parenting and child development. *Child Development*, 78(1), 70–95
- Glascoe, F. P. (1999). The Brigance Diagnostic Comprehensive Inventory of Basic Skills-Revised. *Diagnostique*, *24*(4), 41–51.
- Gonzalez, L. M., Borders, L. D., Hines, E. M., Villalba, J. A., & Henderson, A. (2013). Parental involvement in children's education: Considerations for school counselors working with Latino immigrant families. *Professional School Counseling*, 16, 185-193.
- Gottfried, A. E., Fleming, J. S., & Gottfried, A. W. (1998). Role of cognitively stimulating home environment in children's academic intrinsic motivation: A longitudinal study. *Child Development*, 69, 1448-1460
- Governor's Office of Early Childhood: Welcome. (n.d.). Retrieved July 26, 2017, from http://www.bing.com/cr?IG=3B1B4655901842BE856D692D5C5C3409&CID=3B92860 0449F6ACA36F68CCB45996B72&rd=1&h=wEZjXG4V0XWniCh6QvYMXBs0bSvt3 G_tZ-DFBU5RMck&v=1&r=http%3a%2f%2fkidsnow.ky.gov%2f&p=DevEx,5063.1
- GovTrack.us. (2020). HR, 1804-103rd Congress: Goals 2000: Educate America Act. Retrieved from https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/103/hr1804.
- Green, B. B., Malsch, A. M., Kothari, B., Busse, J., & Brennan, E. (2012). An intervention to increase early childhood staff capacity for promoting children's social-emotional development in preschool settings. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 40(2), 123-132.

- Hagedorn, M., Roth, S. B., Carver, P., Van de Kerckhove, W., & Smith, S. (2009). National household education surveys program of 2007: Methodology Report. (NCES 2009-047).
 National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S.
 Department of Education. Washington, DC.
- Hair, E., Halle, T., Terry-Humen, E., Lavelle, B., & Calkins, J. (2006). Children's school readiness in the ECLS-K: Predictions to academic, health, and social outcomes in first grade. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 21(4), 431-454.
- Halpenny, A. M., Greene, S. M., & Hogan, D. M. (2008). Children's perspectives on copping and support following parental separation. *Child Care in Practice*, *14*(3), 311-325.
- Hamilin, D., & Flessa, J. (2018). Parental involvement initiatives: An analysis. Educational Policy, 32(5), 697-727.
- Hart, B., & Risley, T. R. (1995). Meaningful differences in the everyday experience of young American children. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Company.
- Hayes, N., O'Toole, L., & Halpenny, A. M. (2017). Introducing Bronfenbrenner: A guide for practitioners and students in early years education. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com.
- Heckman, J., Pinto, R., & Savelyev, P. (2013). Understanding the mechanisms through which an influential early childhood program boosted adult outcomes. *The American Economic Review*, 103(6), 2052–2086
- Henderson, A. T., & Mapp, K. L. (2002). A new wave of evidence: The impact of school, family, and community connection on student achievement. Austin, TX: Southwest Educational Development Laboratory.

- Hinde, R. A. (1987). *Individuals, relationships, and culture*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Hilado, A., Kallemeyn, L., Leow, C., Lundy, M., & Israel, M. (2011). Supporting child welfare and parent involvement in preschool programs. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 39(5), 343-353.
- Henry, G. T., Gordon, C. S., & Rickman, D. K. (2006). Early education policy alternatives:
 Comparing quality and outcomes of head start and state prekindergarten. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 28(1), 77–99.
- Hunt, J. M. (1961). Intelligence and experience. New York, NY: Ronald Press.
- Huttman, E. (1991). A research note on dreams and aspirations of Black families. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies, 22*, 147–158.
- Joseph, M.V., & John, J. (2008). Impact of parenting styles on child development. *Global Academic Society Journal: Social Science Insight, 1*(5), 16-25.
- Jung, E. (2016). The development of reading skills in kindergarten influence of parental beliefs about school readiness, family activities, and children attitudes to school. *International Journal of Early childhood, 48*(1), 61-78.
- Kagan, S. L. (1990). Readiness 2000: Rethinking rhetoric and responsibility. *Phi Delta Kappan,* 72, 272-279.
- Kalil, A., Ryan, R., & Corey, M. (2012). Diverging destinies: Maternal education and the developmental gradient in time with children. *Demography*, 49(4), 1361–1383.
- Karch, A. (2010). Policy feedback and preschool funding in the American states. *Policy Studies Journal*, *38*, 217-234.

- Keys, A. (2013). Family engagement in rural and urban head start families: an exploratory study. *Early Childhood Education Journal, 43*(1), 69-76. doi:10.1007/s10643-014-0643-8
- Kirp, D. L. (2007). *The sandbox investment: the preschool movement and kids first politics*.Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Klebanov, P. K., Brooks-Gunn, J., McCarton, C., & McCormick, M. C. (1998). The contribution of neighborhood and family income to developmental test scores over the first three years of life. *Child Development*, 69(5), 1420–1436.
- Knudsen, E. I., Heckman, J. J., Cameron, J. L., & Shonkoff, J. P. (2006). Economic, neurobiological, and behavioral perspectives on building America's future workforce.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Science U.S.A., 103, 10155-10162.
- Kroeger, J., & Lash, M. (2011). Asking, listening and learning: Toward a more thorough method of inquiry in home-school relations. *Teaching and Teacher Educations*, *27*, 268-277.
- Lamborn, D. S., Mounts N., Steinberg, S., & Dornbusch, S. M. (1991). Patterns of competence and adjustment among adolescents from authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and neglectful. *Child Development*, 62, 1049-1065.
- Lally, J. R. (2010). School readiness begins in infancy. Phi Delta Kappan, 92(3), 17–21.
- Lavigne, J. V., Gibbons, R. D., Christoffel, K. K., Arend, R., Rosenbaum, D., Binns, H.,..., Isaacs, C. (1996). Prevalence rates and correlates of psychiatric disorders among preschool children. *Journal of the American Academy of child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 35(2), 204-214.
- Lee, J., & Bowen, N. K. (2006). Parent involvement, cultural capital, and the achievement gap among elementary school children. *American Educational Research Journal*, 43(2), 193-218.

- Leibhaman, M. E., Alexander, J. M., Johnson, K. E., Neitzel, C. L., & Reis-Henrie, F. P. (2005) Parenting behaviors associated with the maintenance of preschooler's interest: A prospective longitudinal study. *Applied Developmental Psychology*, 26(4), 397-444.
- Leventhal, T., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2000). The neighborhoods they live in: The effects of neighborhood residence on child and adolescent outcomes. *Psychological Bulletin*, *126*(2), 309.
- Lever, R., & Se'ne'chal, M. (2011). Discussing stories: On how a dialogic reading intervention improves kindergartners' oral narrative construction. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 108(1), 1–24.
- Lindsey, M. A., Sean, J., & Nebitt, V. (2010). Family matters: The role of mental health stigma and social support on depressive symptoms and subsequent help seeking among African American boys. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 36(4), 458-482.
- Lonigan, C. J., Schatschneider, C., & Westberg, L. (2008). Identification of children's skills and abilities linked to later outcomes in reading writing, and spelling. In National Institute for Literacy (Ed.), *Developing early literacy: Report of the National Literacy Panel*, (pp. 55-106). Washington, DC: National Institute for Literacy.
- Lopez, B. G., & Lopez, R. G. (1998). The improvement of moral development through an increase in reflection: A training program. *Journal of Moral Education*, *27*, 225–241.

Lucido, J. A. (2008). Selected data on p-20 education in America. College Board's Task Force on Admissions in the 21st Century. Retrieved from https://securemedia.collegeboard.org/digitalServices/pdf/advocacy/admissions21century/selected-dataon-p-20-education-in-america.pdf

- Maccoby, E. E., & Martin, J. A. (1983). Socialization in the context of the family: Parent-child interaction. In P. H. Mussen (Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology* (Vol. 4, pp. 1-101). New York, NY: Wiley.
- Machida, S., Taylor, A. R., & Kim, J. (2002). The role of maternal beliefs in predicting home learning activities in head start families. *Family Relations*, *51*(2), 176-184.
- Mantizicopoulos, P. (2003). Flunking kindergarten after Head Start: An inquiry into the contribution of contextual and individual variables. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(2), 268–278.
- Marcon, R. A. (1999). Positive relationships between parent school involvement and public school inner-city preschoolers' development and academic performance. *School Psychology Review*, 28, 395–412.
- Marshall, N. L., Noonan, A. E., McCartney, K., Marx, F., & Keefe, N. (200). It takes an urban village: Parenting networks of urban families. *Journal of Family Issues*, *22*(2), 63–82.
- Matejevic, M., Jovanovic, D., & Jovanovic, M. (2014). Parenting style, involvement of parents in school activities and adolescents' academic achievement. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 128, 288–293.
- McCormick, C. E, & Mason, J.M. (1986). Intervention procedures for increasing preschool children's interest in and knowledge about reading. In W.H. Teale & E.Sulzby (eds.) *Emergent Literacy*, (pp. 90– 115). Norwood, NJ: Ablex Publishing.
- McLoyd V. C. (1998). Socioeconomic disadvantage and child development. *American Psychology*, 53, 185–204.
- Miedel, W. T., & Reynolds, A. J. (1999). Parent involvement in early intervention for disadvantaged children: Does it matter? *Journal of School Psychology*, 37, 379–402.

- Miguel, I., Valentim, J. P. & Carugati, F. (2013). Social representations of the development of intelligence, parental values and parenting styles: a theoretical model for analysis. *European Journal of Psychology Education*, 28, 1163–1180.
- Miller-Johnson, S. & Maumary-Gremaud, A. (1995). Parent-teacher involvement: parent version (fast track project technical report). Durham, NC: Duke University.
- Mo, Y., & Singh, K. (2008). Parents' relationships and involvement: Effects on students' school engagement and performance. *Research in Middle Level Education Online*, *31*(10), 1-11.
- Mol, S. E., & Bus, A. G. (2011). To read or not to read: A meta-analysis of print exposure from infancy to early adulthood. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*, 267–296.
- Mollborn, S. (2016). Young children's developmental ecologies and kindergarten readiness. *Demography*, 53, 1853-1882.
- Monk, D. H. (2007). Recruiting and retaining high-quality teachers in rural areas. *The future of children*, *17*(1), 155-174.
- Montgomery, D. J. (2005). Communication without harm: Strategies to enhance parent-teacher communication. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *37*, 50–55.
- Morris, P. A, Gennetian, L. A, & Duncan, G. J. (2005). Effects of welfare and employment policies on young children: New findings on policy experiments conducted in the early 1990s. Social Policy Report, 19(2), 3–14.
- Myers, S. M., & Myers, C. B. (2013, Winter). The dynamics of parental involvement in U.S. schools from 1996 to 2007. *Journal of School Public Relations*, *34*(1), 74–105.
- National Association for Family, School, and Community Engagement. (2010). Strategic framework 2017-2021. Retrieved from

https://www.nafsce.org/general/custom.asp?page=definition

- National Family, School and Community Engagement Working Group. (2010). Family engagement definition. Retrieved from http://www.nafsce.org/page/definition.
- Nelson, A. (2006). The achievement gap: Early childhood education. *Association for Supervision* and Curriculum Development Info Brief, 45.
- O'Brien, E. M., & Dervarics, C. (2007). Pre-kindergarten: What the research shows. The Center for Public Education. Retrieved from http://www.centerforpubliceducation.org/Main-Menue/Pre-kindergarten/Pre-Kindergarten/Pre-KindergartenpWhat-the-researchshows.html.
- Office for Rural Health Policy. (2018). List of rural counties and designated eligible census tracts in metropolitan counties [Pdf]. Retrieved from

https://www.hrsa.gov/sites/default/files/hrsa/ruralhealth/resources/forhpeligibleareas.pdf.

- Olmstead, P. P. (1991). Parent involvement in elementary education: Findings and suggestions from the follow through program. *The Elementary School Journal*, *91*(3), 221-231.
- Pentimonti, J. M., Justice, L. M., & Kaderavek, J. N. (2014). School-readiness profiles of children with language impairment: Linkages to home and classroom experiences. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 49(5), 567-583.
- Pelletier, J., & Brent, J. M. (2002). Parent participation and children's school readiness: The effects of parental self-efficacy, cultural diversity and teacher strategies. *International Journal of Early Childhood*, 34(1), 45-60.
- Phillips D. A., Voran, M., Kisker, E., Howes, C., & Whitebook, M. (1994). Childcare for children in poverty: Opportunity or inequity? *Child Development*, 65, 72–92.
- Posey-Maddox, L. (2012). Middle-and upper-middle-class parent action for urban public schools: Promise or paradox? *Teachers College Record*, *114*, 1-43.

- Power, C., & Hertzman, C. (1999). Health, well-being, and coping skills. In D. Keating & C. Hertzman (Eds.), *Development Health and the Wealth of Nations*. New York: Guilford.
- Pianta, R. C., & Walsh, D. J. (1996). High-risk children in schools: Constructing sustaining relationships. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Pianta R. C., La Paro, K. M., Payne, C., Cox, M. J., & Bradley, R. (2002). The relation of kindergarten classroom environment to teacher, family, school, characteristics, and child outcomes. *The Elementary School Journal*, 102(3), 225–238.
- Prater D. L., Bermudez A. B., & Owens, E. (1997). Examining parental involvement in rural, urban, and suburban schools. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, *13*, 72-75.
- Provasnik, S., KewalRamani, A., Coleman, M. M., Gilbertson, L., Herring, W., & Xie, Q.
 (2007). Status of education in rural America (NCES 2007-040). National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC.
- Rakies, H. H., Pan, B. A., Luze, G., Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Brooks-Gunn, J., Constantine,
 J.,...Rodriquez, E. (2006). Mother-child book reading in low-income families: Correlates and outcomes during the first three years of life. *Child Development*, 77, 924–953.
- Raver, C. C., & Knitzer, J. (2002). Ready to enter: What research tells policy makers about strategies to promote social and emotional school readiness among three and four-yearolds. National Center for Children in Poverty.

https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/doi/10.7916/D82V2QVX

Ravitch, D. (2010). *The death and life of the great American school system*. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Reardon, S. F., & Portilla, X. A. (2016). Recent trends in income, racial, and ethnic school readiness gaps at kindergarten entry. *American Educational Research Association*, 2(3), 1-18.
- Reinhardt, M. A. (2016). Parent involvement in kindergarten. St. Catherine University. https://sophia.stkate.edu/maed/130
- Reynolds, A. J. (1991). Early schooling of children at risk. *American Educational Research Journal*, 28(2), 392-422.
- Reynolds, A. J., Temple, J. A., Robertson, D., & Mann, E. A. (2002). Long-term effects of an early childhood intervention on education achievement and juvenile arrest: A 15-year follow-up of low-income children in public schools. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 285(18), 2339-46.
- Rimm-Kaufman, S., & Pianta, R. (2000). An ecological perspective on the transition to kindergarten: A theoretical framework to guide empirical research. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 21, 491–511.

Roth, E. B. (1976). Lato: Lats-hunting in the Indian languages. American Education, 12, 6-9.

Robinson, K., & Harris, A. L. (2013). The broken compass. Harvard University Press.

- Russell, W. F. (1931). The machine age and the future of the nursery school. *Childhood Education*, *8*, 5-10.
- Sawyer, M. (2015). BRIDGES: Connecting with families to facilitate and enhance involvement. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 47(3), 172-179.
- Schweinhart, L. J., Barnes, H. V., Weikart, D. P., Barnett, W. S., & Epstein, A. S. (1993). Significant benefits: The High/Scope Perry Preschool study through age 27.

(Monographs of the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation, 10). Ypsiliantie, MI: High/Scope Press.

- Sheridan S. M., Bovaird J. A., Glover T. A., Garbacz S. A, Witte A., & Kwon, K. (2012). A randomized trial examining the effects of conjoint behavioral consultation and the mediating role of the parent–teacher relationship. *School Psychology Review*, 41, 23-46.
- Sheridan, S. M., Knoche, L. L., Edwards, C. P., Bovaird, J. B., & Kupzyk, K. A. (2010). Parent engagement and school readiness: effects of the getting ready intervention on preschool children's social-emotional competencies. *Early Education and Development*, 21, 125-156.
- Sheridan, S. M., Rispoli, K., & Holmes, S. (2014). Treatment integrity in conjoint behavioral consultation: Active ingredients and potential pathways of influence. In L. Sanetti, & T. Kratochwill (Eds.), *Treatment integrity: A foundation for evidence-based practice in applied psychology* (pp. 255–278). New York, NY:American Psychological Association.
- Sheridan, S. M., Witte, A. L., Holmes, S. R., Coutts, M. J., Dent, A. L., Kunz, G. M., & Wu, C. (2017). A randomized trial examining the effects of conjoint behavioral consultation in rural schools: Student outcomes and the mediating role of teacher-parent relationships. *Journal of School Psychology*, *61*, 33-53.
- Sheldon, S. B., & Epstein, J. L. (2005). Involvement counts: Family and community partnerships and mathematics achievement. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *98*(4), 196–206.
- Shonkoff, J. P., & Phillips, D. A. (Eds.). (2001). From neurons to neighborhoods: the science of early childhood development. Washington, DC: National Academies Press. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK225557/

Simon, M. K. (2011). Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success. Seattle, WA.

- Smith, J. G. (2006). Parental involvement in education among low-income families: A case study. *School Community Journal*, 16, 43-56.
- Spera, C. (2005). A review of the relationship among parenting practices, parenting styles, and adolescent school achievement. *Educational Psychology Review*, *17*(2).
- Steinberg, L., Lamborn, S., Dornbusch, S., & Darling, N. (1992). Impact of parenting practices on adolescent achievement: Authoritative parenting, school involvement, and encouragement to Succeed. *Child Development*, 63, 1266-1281.
- Stipek J. D., & Tannattm, L. (1984). Children's judgments of their own and their peers' academic competence. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *76*, 75–84.
- Stone, S. J., & Chakraborty, B. (2011). Parents as partners: Tips for involving parents in your classroom. *Childhood Education*, 87(5).
- Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Sammons, P., Siraj-Blatchford, I. & Taggart, B. (2004). Effective provision of pre-school education (EPPE) project: Final Report. London: DfES.
- Takanishi, R., & DeLeon, P. H. (1994). A head start for the 21st century. *American Psychologist*, 49(2), 120-122.
- Tank, R. M. (1980). Young children, families, and society in America since the 1820s: The evolution of health, education, and childcare programs for preschool children. (Doctoral dissertation, Department of History, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor). University Microfilms International, No. 8106233.
- Temple, J. A. (2009). Rural gaps in participation in early childhood education. *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*, *41*(2), 402-410.
- Temple, J. A., and Reynolds, A. J., (2007). The benefits and costs of investments in preschool. *Economics of Education Review*, *26*, 126–44.

- Thompson, R. A., & Raikes, H. A. (2007). The social and emotional foundations of school readiness. In D. F. Perry, R. K. Kaufmann, & J. Knitzer (Eds.), *Social and emotional health in early childhood: Building bridges between services and systems* (pp. 13–35).
 Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Troske, K. R., Bollinger, C. R., Blomquist, G. C., Hackbart, M., & Childress, M. T. (2012). Kentucky annual economic report 2012. Kentucky Annual Economic Report. http://cber.uky.edu/sites/cber/files/publications/Kentucky%20Annual%20Economic%20 Report%202012.pdf
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families (2010). Head start impact study final Report. https://www.acf.hhs.gov/opre/resource/head-start-impact-study-final-report-executivesummary
- U.S. Department of Education (2003). Parent and family involvement in education: 2002-02. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2005/2005043.pdf
- Van Voorhis, F. L. (2011). Adding families to the homework equation: A longitudinal study of mathematics achievement. *Education and Urban Society*, *43*(3), 313–338.
- Waanders, C., Mendez, J. L., & Downer, J. T. (2007). Parent characteristics, economic stress and neighborhood context as predictors of parent involvement in preschool children's education. *Journal of School Psychology*, 45(6), 619-636.
- Wat, A. (2007). *Dollars, and sense: A review of the economic analysis of pre-K*. Washington, DC: Pre-K Now.
- Webster, J. (2019). Attending or attention is the first preacademic skill. Retrieved from https://www.thoughtco.com/attending-or-attention-is-the-first-preacademic-skill-3110440

Weiss, H., Caspe, M., & Lopes, M. E. (2006). Family involvement makes a difference: Evidence that family involvement promotes success for every child of every age. Harvard Family Research Project. http://5c2cabd466efc6790a0a-

6728e7c952118b70f16620a9fc754159.r37.cf1.rackcdn.com/cms/Section3_1513.pdf

- West, J., Denton, K., & Germino-Hausken, E. (2000). America's kindergartners. U.S. Department of Education, NCES. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2000/2000070.pdf
- White, K. R., Taylor, M. J., & Moss, V. D. (1992). Does research support claims about the benefits of involving parents in early intervention programs? Review of Educational Research, 62, 91-125.
- White, S. H., & Buka, S. (1987). Early education: Programs, traditions, and policies. *Review of Research in Education*, *14*, 43-91.
- Whitehurst, G. J., & Lonigan, C. J. (1998). Child development and emergent literacy. *Child Development*, 69, 848–72.
- Wigfield A., Eccles J., Yoon K., Harold R., Arbreton A., Freedman-Doan, C., & Blumenfeld, P. (1997). Change in children's competence beliefs and subjective task values across the elementary school years: a three-year study. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *89*(3), 451–469.
- Winter, S. M., & Sass, D. A. (2011). Healthy & ready to learn: Examining the efficacy of an early approach to obesity prevention and school readiness. *Journal of Research In Childhood Education*, 25(3), 304-325. doi:10.1080/02568543.2011.580211.
- Wright, T. (2009). Parent and teacher perceptions of effective parental involvement. Unpublished doctoral dissertation., Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA.

- Ziegler, E., & Valentine, J. (Eds.). (1979). Project Head Start: A legacy of the War on Poverty. New York: Free Press.
- Zill, N., Moore, K. A., Smith, E. W., Stief, T., & Coiro, M. J. (1991). Life circumstances and development of children in welfare families: A profile based on national survey data.
 Washington, DC: Child Trends.
- Zill, N., Collins, N., West, J., & Germino-Hausken, E. (1995). Approaching kindergarten: A look at preschoolers in the United States. U.S. Department of Education, NCES. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs95/95280.pdf

Zill, N. (1996). Parental schooling & children's health. Public Health Rep, 111(1), 34-43.

APPENDIX A Letter of Approval from Institutional Review Board



The IRB has completed its review of your student's Level 1 protocol entitled *The Effects of Family Engagement and Parental Involvement in the State Funded Preschools of Western Kentucky and Kindergarten Readiness.* After review and consideration, the IRB has determined that the research, as described in the protocol form, will be conducted in compliance with Murray State University guidelines for the protection of human participants.

The forms and materials that have been approved for use in this research study are attached to the email containing this letter. These are the forms and materials that must be presented to the subjects. Use of any process or forms other than those approved by the IRB will be considered misconduct in research as stated in the MSU IRB Procedures and Guidelines section 20.3.

Your stated data collection period is from 10/3/2018 to 10/25/2018.

If data collection extends beyond this period, please submit an Amendment to an Approved Protocol form detailing the new data collection period and the reason for the change.

This Level 1 approval is valid until 10/10/2019.

If data collection and analysis extends beyond this date, the research project must be reviewed as a continuation project by the IRB prior to the end of the approval period, 10/10/2019. You must reapply for IRB approval by submitting a Project Update and Closure form (available at murraystate.edu/irb). You must allow ample time for IRB processing and decision prior to your expiration date, or your research must stop until such time that IRB approval is received. If the research project is completed by the end of the approval period, then a Project Update and Closure form must be submitted for IRB review so that your protocol may be closed. It is your responsibility to submit the appropriate paperwork in a timely manner.

The protocol is approved. You may begin data collection now.

Opportunity

Murray State University College of Education and Human Services Online Research Participation Consent **Study Title:** THE EFFECTS OF FAMILY ENGAGMENT AND PARENTAL INVOLVMENT IN THE STATE FUNDED PRESCHOOLS OF WESTERN KENTUCKY AND KINDERGARTEN READINESS

Primary Investigator: Kammie King. Faculty Supervisor: Samir Patel 3218 Alexander Hall, Murray, KY 42071. Phone: 270-809-6123. Email: spatel4@murraystate.edu

You are being invited to participate in an online research study conducted through Murray State University. This document contains information you will need to help you decide whether to be in this research study or not. You must be at least 18 years old to participate. Please read the form carefully and ask the study team member(s) questions about anything that is not clear. You should print a copy of this document for your records.

- 1. Nature and Purpose of Project: The purpose of this study is to gain understanding of family engagement among preschool and kindergarten families in western Kentucky in order to fulfill graduation requirements of the dissertation component.
- 2. **Participant Selection:** You are being asked to participate because you currently have a child who is enrolled in kindergarten in Western Kentucky.
- **3.** Explanation of Procedures: For you to participate in this study, you will need to complete the survey and questionnaire either on line or paper based (provided behind this letter). Once you have answered the questions of both the survey and the questionnaire your participation will be completed. The study activities include the Family Engagement Survey and the Parent and teacher Involvement Questionnaire. It should take you approximately fifteen minutes to complete the online or paper based survey and questionnaire.
- 4. Discomforts and Risks: There are no known risk and/or discomforts for participants. All information if confidential, and no identifying information will be collected by the researcher. All responses from online participants will be treated confidentially and stored on a secure server. However, I am unable to guarantee the security of the computer or smart device on which you choose to enter your responses. Information (or data) you enter, and websites you visit online can be tracked, captured, corrupted, lost, or otherwise misused.
- 5. Benefits: This study is not designed to benefit you directly. However, your participation may help to increase our understanding of the role of parent involvement and family engagement during the preschool and kindergarten year and how this engagement and involvement affects not only kindergarten readiness, but the overall trajectory of a child's educational career.
- 6. Confidentiality: Your participation in this study is anonymous. Neither the researcher(s) nor anyone else will know if you have participated or how you responded.
- 7. **Refusal/Withdrawal:** Your participation is strictly voluntary and you are free to withdraw/stop participating at any time with absolutely no penalty.
- 8. Contact Information: Any questions about the procedures or conduct of this research should be brought to the attention of Kammie King at 270-797-3811 or kjackson18@murraystate.edu

Your response submission; Clicking the link below or returning the paper based forms to your child's school indicates that this study has been explained to you, that your questions have been answered, and that you agree to take part in this study.

Family Engagement Survey https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/QYDJ726 Parent and teacher Involvement Questionnaire https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/QBQLJQR





This project has been reviewed and approved by the Murray State University Institutional Review Board (IRB) for the Protection of Human Subjects. If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you should contact the MSU IRB Coordinator at (270) 809-2916 or msu.irb@murraystate.edu

APPENDIX B FAMILY ENGAGMENT SURVEY

- YES 1. Did your child attend preschool? NO
 - If so was the preschool...
 - - a. State funded
 - b. Head Start
 - c. Private (such as church preschool or private individual)
- 2. What is your age?
 - 18 -24 years old
 - 25-34 years old
 - 35-44 years old
 - 45-54 years old
 - 55 and older
- 3. What is your current marital Status? Single
 - Married, or in a domestic partnership Widowed Divorced
 - Separated
- 4. Are you of Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin? Yes NO
- How would you best describe yourself? American Indian or Alaska Native Asian Black or African American Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander White
- 5. Gender?
- 6. When your read to your child do you ...

	Yes	No
a. Have the child tell you what is in a picture?		
b. Stop reading and point out		
letters?		
c. Talk about the story and what		
happened		
when the book is done?		

7. In the past week, has anyone in your family done the following things with your child?

	YES	NO	-
a. Told him/her a story?			
b. Taught him/her letters, words, or numbers?			
c. Taught the child simple songs?			
d. Did arts and crafts, for example coloring, painting, or			
using clay?			
e. Played sports, active games, or exercised together?			
f. Played board games or did puzzles?			
8. In the past week, has anyone in your family done the following the fo	lowing th	ings with	your child?
	YES	NO	_
a. Visited a library?			
b. Visited a bookstore?			
c. Gone to a play or concert?			
d. Visited an art gallery or museum?			
e. Attended a sporting event?			
f. Attended a community-sponsored event			
g. Visited a zoo or aquarium?			
9. In the past week has anyone in your family done the follo	owing thin	ngs with y	our child?
	YES	NO	
a. Counted by rote (1,2,3,4) with your child?			

a. Counted by rote $(1,2,3,4)$ with your child?	
b. Counted objects?	
c. Practiced shape identification?	

10. How many hours per week do spend watching television or movies with your child?

0-4 hours 5-8 hours 9-12 hours 13 plus hours

11. In the past week has anyone in your family done the following with your child?

	YES	NO
a. Practiced writing numbers?		
b. Practiced writing the child's name?		
c. Practiced writing letters?		
d. Practiced drawing shapes?		

12. In the past week how much alone screen time (TV, tablet, computer, or other electronic device has your child had?

0-4 hours 5-8 hours 9-12 hours 13 plus hours

13. What is the highest degree or level of school you have completed? (If you're currently enrolled in school, please indicate the highest degree you have received.)

Less than a high school diploma High school degree or equivalent (e.g. GED) Some college, no degree Associate degree (e.g. AA, AS) Bachelor's degree (e.g. BA, BS) Master's degree (e.g. MA, MS, MEd) Professional degree (e.g. MD, DDS, DVM) Doctorate (e.g. PhD, EdD)

14. What is your current household income? less than \$20,000 \$20,000 to \$34,999 \$35,000 to \$49,999 \$50,000 to \$74,999 \$75,000 to \$99,999 Over \$100,000

APPENDIX C PARENT TEACHER INOVOLVMENT QUESTIONNAIRE

		\langle	Ξ	US	E NO	D. 2 F	PENO	IL ONLY								
Use a NO. 2 PENCIL only. Erase cleanly any marks	you w	Do /ist	n no	ot u o ch	ise 1ar	in nge	k c	r ballpo • D	int pen. o not mak	• Da any si	rken in th ray marks	e oval co on this f	npletel orm.	у.		
									Mar	k Reflex® b	NCS EM-1601	60:65432	AED08 P	rinted i	in U.S	5.
You are your child's first and most imp to him/her. You and the teachers can we	portar	nt t	ea etho	che	76 er. to	W he	he he	n your of	child goes hild do w	s to sch	ool, teach	ers beco	me imp Id like	oorta son	ınt ne	
information about your relationship with yo	our ch	ild'	s s	sch	00	l te	ac	her and	your invo	olvemer	it in your o	child's scl	nool life	э.		
Please indicate the number that best o	compi	ete	<u>es</u> :	ead	<u>cn</u>	<u>sta</u>		<u>ment</u> :					r		_	
M	ore Thai Almos	n Oi st Ev	nce /ery	Per We	ek ek	ek]								A	Al	10 _0
Alm Once or	nost Ev Twice a	ery a Ye	Mor	1 1	1								A	Little	me]	
Not Appli	Nev icable	rer										Not Apr	Not At A	41		
In the past year, you have called your child's teacher.	RD	0	0	2	3) (15. You fee	l comfortable ta	alking with yo	ur child's teache	er about your ch	nild. NA	ØŒ		*
2. In the past year, your child's teacher has called you.	- MA	0	0	2	3) (±		16. You lee	I your child's te	acher pays a	ittention to your	suggestions.	N)	00	2	*
2. In the part year, you have written your child's teacher	-	6	0	0	3			17. You as	your child's te	acher questi	ons or make sug	gestions about	AD	തന		
a, in the past year, you have written your child a tabolist.				6	6			your ch	ild.	na lika statu	ooke and other	thinge		ത്ര	0	+
4. In the past year, your child's teacher has written you.								19. You he	p your child at	home with si	bjects that he/sh	he is having		e c		Ţ
 In the past year, you stopped by to talk to your child's teacher. In the past year, you have been invited to your child's school for a 	6 9	0		2	3	4		difficult	y with.			-	69			Ŧ
special event (such as a book fair).	6.9	0	Θ	2	3	4	2	20. You tai	ke your child to	the library.			- NA	w c		Ŧ
 In the past year, you have visited your child's school for a special event (such as a book fair). 	Ø	Ø	0	2	3			21. You ma	ake sure that yo	our child gets	his/her homewo	ork done.	69		2	10
 In the past year, you have been invited to attend a parent-teacher conference. 	Ø	0	1	2	3	4	1	22. You va	lunteer at your	child's schoo	I.		69	00)@	1
9. In the past year, you have attended a parent-teacher conference.	•	0	0	0	3	4		Ple	ase indic	ate hov	stronaly	vou agre	e or dis	sagre	ee	
10. In the past year, you have attended PTA meetings.	NA NA	0	1	2	3	4	2	with the	e followin	g stater	nents:	, ,		Ū		
			A	Grea	at D	eal 7								Stro	ngly Agr	A
		A L it	Sor	ne 1							Г		Dis	Not S agree	ure 7]
	Not At	All]									Strong	ly Disagre	e		
NOLADD												Not Ob		a a	1	Ŧ
11. You teel welcome to visit your child's school.							1	23. Your d	nid s scriool is	a good place	for your child to					t
12. You enjoy talking with your child's teacher.	Q.A	e B	Û	2	3		4	24. The st	att at your child	s school is c	oing good things	s tor your child.		<u>w</u> u	12	1
13. You feel your child's teacher cares about your child.	Ø	0	Ð	2	3		2	25. You ha	ve confidence	in the people	at your child's s	chool.	¢ø	ω <u>α</u>		4
14. You think your child's teacher is interested in getting to know you.	Ø	0		2	3	4	2	26. Your c	r futures.	uong a good	Job of preparing	critoren	()	00	2	ľ
															_	
			-	- F(OR	0	FFI	CE USE	ONLY -							
CODE A Cobort Number (1–1st 2–2nd 3–3	Rrd)		A	B	C	D	3	FG	CODE			نگر ا	BC			
B. Site (0=NC, 1=TN, 2=WA and 3=P/	A)		\vdash	l					A. Respo	ndent: 0=re o	lative other th grandparent	ian parent				
G. Year of Participation in Study			00) (1) (2)) (1) (2)(1)(2) (1) (2	000		1=bi 2=bi	plogical mothe	er (1	000			
(1=1st, 2=2nd, etc.)			I	3	() () () () () () () () () () () () () (ট জ জ জ জ জ	ত্র জুব্র	000		3=st 4=st	epmother epfather	90	33			
					900) (E	0	000		5=gi 6=gi	andmother andfather					
					00			000		/=ui 8=ac	loptive mother					
			1		0	0	0		BC. Interv	9≈a0 riewer ID N	umber	8	000			